
2 March 2018

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Monday, 12 March 2018
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

TO: Councillor Daniel Clarke (Chairman)
Councillor Bruce Tennent (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Janice Asman
Councillor Carol Boulton Councillor Cynthia Garton
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Jerry Hall
Councillor Keith House Councillor Rupert Kyrle
Councillor Clifford Morris Councillor Angel Myerscough
Councillor Derek Pretty

Staff Contacts: Cheryll Kemsley, Performance and Governance Specialist 
(Democratic Services), Tel: 023 8068 8112; 
Email: Cheryll.Kemsley@eastleigh.gov.uk

Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; 
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and 

that Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee 
papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Public Participation    

2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 8) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2018.

3. Apologies    

4. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

5. Chairman's report    

6. Local Area Manager's Report    

7. Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Grants    (Pages 9 - 16)

8. Community Investment Programme Priorities for Hedge End, West End and Botley    
(Pages 17 - 46)

9. Financial Management    (Pages 47 - 52)

10. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

11. Planning Application - Highwood Barn, Itchen Valley Country Park, Allington Lane, 
West End, Southampton, SO30 3HQ    (Pages 53 - 62) 

Alterations and additions to fenestration in front and rear elevations; addition of 
vent to front roof elevation; and erection of covered shelter to the west of the main 
building (Ref: F/18/82351).

12. Planning Application - Land between St Johns Road and Dodwell Lane, Hedge 
End    (Pages 63 - 86) 

Construction of link road between St Johns Road and Dodwell Lane (Phase 3 of 
planning permission O/13/73700) (Ref: F/17/81809).

13. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report that the following appeal has been lodged:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a two storey side 
extension at Holy Rise, Burnetts Lane, West End SO30 2HH (Ref: H/17/80976).

This was a Delegated Decision



DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 11 June 2018 at 7:00 pm

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday, 22 January 2018  (7:00 pm – 8:40 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Clarke (Chairman); Councillors Tennent, Allingham, Asman, 
Garton (until 8.08pm), Corben, Hall, House, Kyrle, Morris and Pretty (until 
8.08pm)

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boulton and 
Myerscough

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

45. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

46. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2017 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

47. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.

48. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chairman reported the following:

Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Youth Grants

He was pleased to report that the application process for the HEWEB 
Youth Grants was well underway. The applications would now be 
considered by the HEWEB Youth Council and the Council’s 
recommendations would be reported to this Committee for its 
consideration.

Hedge End Train Station

The car park at the train station was the responsibility of this Committee. 
Following an accident in the car park, markings were added to a raised 
part of the car park which had been installed some years ago to stop joy 

1

Agenda Item 2



2

riders. A review of the lighting was also undertaken and it had been 
decided that the current halogen lights would be replaced with Light 
Emitting Diodes (LEDs) which would be more efficient and improve the 
light levels and spillage. 

Speed Limit Reminders (SLRs)

A new schedule for the speed limit reminders was being prepared by 
Borough Council officers. This schedule was based on existing data, 
information from the police and residents. Members were requested to 
forward any new locations to Alison Densham, Local Engagement Officer, 
for consideration and to review the proposed schedule which was due to 
commence in April 2018.

Boorley Green Community Development Worker

As previously reported, the developers of Boorley Park agreed to fund a 
Community Development Worker post as part of the Section 106 
agreement with the Borough Council. The Chairman could now inform the 
Committee that Jacquie Rolls had been appointed to this position. Jacquie 
was very experienced in this line of work and had already made contact 
with new and existing residents, local groups and organisations. She was 
now attending the Boorley Green Working Group meetings.

Boorley Green Working Group

The Boorley Green Working Group met last Monday, 15 January 2018, to 
discuss progress on the house building programme. 120 homes had been 
completed with the second phase now underway.  Pragmatic solutions to 
reopening one of the footpaths were also under consideration and an 
application for the diversion of the other footpath was being prepared for 
submission to Eastleigh Borough Council.

It was expected that the construction of the community centre and sports 
pavilion would commence in February 2018 subject to ground conditions.
A meeting to discuss the site for the allotments was held last Thursday 18 
January 2018 with members of the working group and representatives 
from the local allotment association.

49. AREA MANAGER'S REPORT

The Local Area Manager reported the following:

Mill Gardens Play Area 

Following a well - attended consultation session at West End Library, the 
final design was selected and the contractor had been appointed. Work 
should commence on site in March subject to weather conditions. Staff at 
West End Parish Council and the Library must also be thanked for their 
help with the consultations.

2



3

Responses to residents’ and councillors’ requests

Kings Copse developments (Hindmarch Crescent/Watson Court) – staff 
and Councillors had been working with Foreman Homes and Hampshire 
County Council to resolve the issues around the adoption of the roads, 
trees and landscaping. Residents had been asked to comment on the 
proposals. 

Cotswolds ‘Trees’ – a new species of tree had been planted outside of the 
‘Cotswolds’ outdoor store in Hedge End. It was hoped that these trees 
would now thrive especially as an improved watering system had also 
been installed.

Moorgreen Road – ‘The Pavilions’ - a hedge had been partially removed to 
create a new path, but this had met with objections from local residents. 
Work had stopped in order to discuss alternative routes and the Borough 
Council had worked closely with West End Parish Council, the County 
Council and Barratts to agree revised plans.

Midlands Estate – a follow up meeting with residents to discuss car 
parking had been arranged for Wednesday 24 January 2018 to discuss 
the options which had been devised by engineers. 

Street name plates – a programme was being drawn up for replacement 
name plates. It was also proposed that selected areas were also changed 
in their entirety with Cranbourne Park being the first area to be upgraded.

Dog fouling signs – all of the Borough Council’s five Local Area 
Committees had contributed to new dog fouling signs. The Local 
Engagement Officers had now taken responsibility for targeting hotspot 
areas and they had been asked to co-ordinate campaigns with the town 
and parish councils.

Little Owls Kindergarten/Forest School

The Council had transferred the Little Owls and Forest School operations 
at Itchen Valley Country Park to a local provider, Youth Options. This was 
effective from January 2018. Youth Options had an excellent track record 
in the delivery of youth services and was already an established partner 
with the Borough Council. The staff had all been transferred to Youth 
Options so that continuity of service was maintained.

50. AGEAS BOWL REVIEW FOR 2017

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
item 7) that reviewed the complaints and comments which had been 
received with the Council for the 2017 season. It drew comparison with the 
previous eight years and provided updates which addressed current 
residential concerns.

3



4

The majority of the report had been presented to the Ageas Bowl Liaison 
Panel on 16 November 2017, and there was also an update on community 
provision for councillors to note. Councillor Morris requested that the 
crossing point, walking from Botley Road to Tollbar Way was reviewed 
especially as this was part of the designated route from the station to the 
ground.

RESOLVED - 

(1) That the review of complaints, comments and 
recommendations for the Ageas Bowl during the 2017 season 
be noted; 

(2) That the crossing point, walking from Botley Road to Tollbar 
Way be reviewed especially as this was part of the designated 
route from the station to the ground; and

(3) That the community offer at the Ageas Bowl be noted.

51. COMMUNITY GRANTS 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
item 8) that advised that the Grants Panel had reviewed 35 applications 
and recommended that grants for 2018 were awarded to local 
organisations operating within the Hedge End, West End and Botley local 
area

RESOLVED – 

That the community grants as contained in Appendix A to this report 
be approved.

52. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
item 9) that recommended funding to support projects to meet identified 
local needs. The projects would also contribute to the achievement of 
corporate priorities.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the allocation of £10,000 from reserves to fund the waste 
bin replacement programme for the local area be approved;

(2) That revenue funding of £1,500 as a contribution towards the 
external storage project at St. James’ Church, West End be 
approved;

4



5

(3) That the renewal of the existing service level agreement for 
another 12 months with revenue funding of £5,500 for the 
Young People’s Wellbeing Service be approved; 

(4) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution to the 
Bradbeers’ roundabout public art project be approved; and

(5) That the allocation of the future developer’s contribution to the 
Berry Theatre entrance public art project be approved.

53. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework.

54. PLANNING APPLICATION - FORMER BUDGENS STORE, 1 UPPER 
NORTHAM ROAD, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 4DY

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
(formerly Head of Development Management) (Agenda item 11) 
concerning an outline application for  for mixed use redevelopment 
scheme within use classes A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional 
services), A3 (restaurant/café), A4 (drinking establishment), A5 (hot-food 
takeaway), C3 (residential apartments up to 77 units) and D1 (non-
residential institution), within two separate blocks, together with access, 
car parking, landscaping and associated works (all matters reserved) (Ref: 
 O/17/80927).

RESOLVED -

That permission be REFUSED as per the reasons set out in the 
report.

(NOTE: Ten members of the public and one Hedge End Town Councillor 
spoke in objection to the application citing a number of issues including the 
following: that car parking in Hedge End was already inadequate and 77 
more homes with cars would exacerbate the problem; that the proposed 
building was not attractive; that schools were at capacity; the site had no 
parking for visitors; it had detrimental impact on Ascot Place; the town 
would benefit from a supermarket or health centre but not takeaway 
restaurants; the stream would get clogged with more rubbish and drains 
would become blocked; a residential development was not required; and a 
clear vision was needed to encourage economic growth.)

5



6

55. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO THE NORTH WEST OF 
BOORLEY GREEN, SO32 2BX

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
(formerly Head of Development Management) (Agenda item 12) 
concerning a reserved matters application (pursuant to outline planning 
permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment) for Phase 1 scheme equating to 301 residential dwellings 
with associated parking, road infrastructure, landscaping, open space, 
surface water drainage networks, on-site waste water treatment works, 
provision of additional vehicular parking for Hedge End Railway Station 
and bus only connection to Shamblehurst Lane North (Ref: RM/17/81628).
The Committee was advised of the following updates:

Amendments to the proposal 

Further amended plans and information had recently been submitted and 
they were still under consideration.  It was considered that the overall 
principles and design approach of the development were acceptable and 
that it was matters of specific detail in certain parts of the site that still 
needed addressing.  It was considered that these could be satisfactorily 
resolved to ensure that an acceptable development meeting the necessary 
standards be created.

Consultation responses

Design and Landscape – 

• Amended house types and streetscenes - some minor amendments 
required to the proposed house types and apartment blocks.  

• Amended landscape plans – revised plans had been recently 
submitted to address the previous concerns and were still to be 
assessed.

Biodiversity – 

• Ecological issues – an alternative, biodiverse grass seed mix was 
required and further information on the measures to protect the 
existing ditch network was still required.

• Drainage issues – comments were still awaited.

Natural England – No further objection.  

• Water Resource – the Environment Agency’s decision to modify the 
existing water abstraction permits for the River Itchen highlights the 
scarcity of water supply with Southern Water’s area and a 
potentially significant constraint for future development.  The 
authority should seek to ensure all new permissions, including the 

6



7

current proposal, adopt the highest possible standards for water 
efficiency measures.

• Water Quality – The applicant had provided additional information 
that confirmed the high levels of nitrogen reduction that the 
proposed waste water treatment works could achieve.  In light of 
this, and distance to the receiving European protected sites, it 
would be reasonable for the authority to conclude that the proposals 
would be unlikely to harm the interest features for which the 
protected species have been designated. On this basis, provided 
proposed sewage treatment works were secured by any permission 
and appropriate provision was made for any necessary 
maintenance, Natural England had no further objection to this 
aspect.

Revised Recommendation

Due to latest response from Natural England and conditions on the outline 
planning permission restricting water consumption levels no further 
mitigation against any adverse impact on the Solent and Southampton 
Water Special Protection Area (SPA), Solent Maritime Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and River Itchen SAC and River Test Site of Special 
Scientific Interest was required (bullet point ii) in original recommendation).

RESOLVED – 

That it be delegated to the Head of Development Management (now 
Lead Specialist for Housing and Development), in consultation with 
Chair and Vice-Chair of Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area 
Committee to APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to:

(1) The recommended reasons and conditions;

(2) The receipt of additional information and completion of 
consultations;

(3) Any necessary condition additions or amendments, including 
updating the list of approved drawings; and

(4) Appropriate measures to secure the transfer of the car park 
land to Eastleigh Borough Council, and the timely provision of 
the car park.

(NOTE: Councillor Bodger, Curdridge Parish Council, raised concerns 
regarding the treatment sewage works, and the agent spoke in support of 
the reserved matters.)

7



8

56. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported that the following appeals had been 
dismissed:-

 Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
erection of a detached three bedroom dwelling on land to the rear with 
associated access and parking at 10 Romill Close, West End SO18 
3NE (Ref: C/17/80065).

This was a delegated decision

 Appeal against the Council’s failure to give notice within the prescribed 
period of a decision on a application for planning permission for a two 
storey rear extension and front dormer at 54 Lower Northam Road, 
Hedge End, SO30 4FQ (Ref: F/17/80388).

This was a delegated decision

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

8



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

12 March 2018

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY 
YOUTH GRANTS 

Report of the Local Area Manager in partnership with the Hedge 
End, West End and Botley Youth Council 

Recommendations

It is recommended that this Committee:

(1) Endorses the recommendations of the Hedge End, West End and Botley 
(HEWEB) Youth Council for HEWEB youth grants as shown in Appendix A;

(2) Extends its thanks to members of the Youth Grants Panel; and

(3) Allocates £4,000 towards local youth grants to be awarded in 2019.

Purpose

This report outlines the youth grants process including the involvement of the Hedge End, 
West End and Botley Youth Council in the decision making process. Councillors are 
invited to endorse the recommendations of this year’s Youth Grants Panel and to extend 
their thanks to these volunteers. £4,000 from the Committee’s Youth Initiatives budget has 
been allocated towards youth grants in past years and should be reserved again so that 
the Youth Grants Panel, with the support of Hedge End Town Council’s youth leader, can 
be reconvened in 2019.

Statutory Powers

s.1 Localism Act 2011.  Children’s Act 2004.

Strategic Implications

1. The Local First strategic project seeks to identify local needs and to allocate 
resources to meet these needs. The devolution of this task to the most local 
level is also a strategic aspiration. The allocation of grants to valued and 
effective local organisations is the aim of this report based on the local Youth 
Council’s recommendations. In particular, the grants will enable Healthier 
Lifestyles and Wellbeing for local young people through the provision of 
targeted activities and services.

9

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

Introduction

2. The HEWEB Youth Council is supported by the HEWEB’s and Hedge End 
Town Council’s youth leader. One of their roles is to consider the Hedge End, 
West End and Botley annual youth grant applications with the support of the 
youth team.

Grants Process 2017/18

3. Volunteers from the HEWEB Youth Council spent their free time preparing 
criteria, assessing grant application forms and prioritising awards so that their 
grant recommendations could be brought to this Committee for endorsement.

4. The recommendations of the Youth Grants Panel are shown in Appendix A.  
Members are invited to endorse their recommendations. The grants will be 
presented at the HEWEB Youth Partnership’s Annual General Meeting on 
Thursday 22 March 2018.

Financial Implications

5. Provision has been made in this Committee’s revenue budget to meet the cost 
of the grants shown in Appendix A.  

6. It is also recommended that £4,000 is allocated in the 2018/19 revenue 
budget for youth grants.

Risk Assessment

7. The HEWEB Youth Council has introduced a robust assessment and 
monitoring process to ensure all grants are properly utilised in accordance 
with criteria and conditions.  

Equality and Diversity Implications

8. The HEWEB Youth Council has made specific efforts to ensure that equality 
and diversity implications were taken into account throughout its deliberations.  
Grant decisions have been made taking into account the key guidance of 
‘Every Child Matters’ and the Children’s’ Act 2004.

9. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: 
increasing the capacity of voluntary and community organisations to provide 
services and opportunities for children and young people, including young 
carers, people with learning disabilities and older people.  The decision will 
help foster good relations between different groups by providing opportunities 
for all sections of the community, and specific opportunities for young and 
older generations to take part in activities together. A full Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because while there are some 
equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a full EIA.

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion

10. Delegation of real decisions to our young people continues to be a successful 
and welcome initiative. The recommendations contained within this report 
assist with corporate priorities and the allocation of youth grants is part of the 
Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership’s development plan.

JULIA BIRT DONNA LOVE
Local Area Manager Hedge End Town Council and HEWEB’s 

Youth Leader

Date: 5 February 2018
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 023 8068 8437
e-mail: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: NONE

11

mailto:julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A YOUTH COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS 2017/18
Applicant Amount 

Requested 
Purpose
Youth Council (YC) comments

Recommendation

1. 10th Itchen North Sea 
Scouts

£292.30 Towards bench seating

YC felt that funding had been given during last award period to supply a new bench 
@ £250 which would seat up to eight scouts. Therefore this could still be used.
Possibility of donation of second hand seating from Community Hub

£0

2. St James Church Youth 
Group WE

£500 Funding towards outside storage container (Total £3350)

YC in full support of this project and commended fund raising towards the target of 
£3350 needed 

£300

3. Chimera Explorer 
Scouts, WE

£380 2 x Vango tents to allow an additional 8 Explorers to go on trips

YC welcome the idea of 2 x Vango tents which would allow 8 x Explorers to go away 
to camp. YC felt tents were value for money and had longevity. 

£380

4. 25th Itchen North 
Scouts, HE

£500 Pioneering Wooden poles and ropes kit

YC agreed to part funding towards Pioneering ropes, poles and activity kit for scouts. 
YC noted £300 already self-raised towards the £1,000 needed.
YC very interested in reading about the kits and what they can do.

£300

5. HEWEB Young Carers £500 Staffing Funds for Young Carers Project

Funding for 1 x additional staff member to assist with HEWEB Young Carers weekly 
group. YC felt the group was beneficial to vulnerable young people and continuity of 
group essential.

£500

13



APPENDIX A YOUTH COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS 2017/18

6. HE Police Cadets £250 Torches for 25 cadets @ approx £10 each

Funding requested to purchase 25 x quality torches for Cadets use during night time 
activities. 

£250

7. The Dart Centre £500 Employment of 1 x young person with SEN as coffee shop assistant

Funding requested to employ 1 x young person to work in holiday scheme coffee 
shop @ £5.60 per hr. 
YC felt that as young person would have additional needs this would greatly benefit 
their self - esteem and life skills increasing their life chances and further 
opportunities.

£400

8. The Dart Centre £75 One off cookery session for up to 14 young people with recipe leaflet printing

Funding requested for one off cookery session for 14 x young people who would 
learn basic cooking skills, preparing food on a budget and have a simple recipe 
booklet to take away.
YC felt this was a great initiative for young people who may have just left home and 
would give them life skills and confidence.

£75

9. The Dart Centre £75 Games and resources for holiday club @ The Dart

Funding requested for holiday club games and resources.
YC felt it was a good idea to purchase age appropriate resources for the group. YC 
also suggested asking parents/carers to donate old board games etc.

£75

10. Wildern Young Carers 
Breakfast Club

£150 Two x trips for young carers

Funding requested which would allow 2 x subsidised trips over the summer period.  
YC felt this could be beneficial to Young Carers and noted 50 x eligible Young Carers 
at Wildern who may benefit.

£150

14



APPENDIX A YOUTH COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS 2017/18

11. Wildern Leisure Centre £500 Specialist gym equipment for trainer with disability

Funding requested towards purchase of a Pro2 Body Ergometer (Total £1,000) This 
would allow gym assistant with disability to support gym users with additional 
needs.
YC enquired how many hours a week young person was employed at Wildern Gym 
and for more information about the equipment. YC concluded this could have long 
term health benefits for local young people and would aid wheelchair users at the 
gym.

£500

12. The Community Hub: 
Friday Night Project 
(FNP)

£500 Funding towards weekend residential visit for FNP young people with additional 
needs (Trip total: £2020)

Funding requested towards weekend activity (Total £2020) to take 20 x young 
people to activity weekend.
YC felt this would benefit the young people in healthy lifestyles, challenges, social 
skills and enjoying and achieving.

£500

13. 31st Itchen North Sea 
Scouts

£500 Funding towards cover and launching trolley for pulling boat ( £390 and £180)

Funding requested towards a launching trolley and cover for pulling boat which was 
purchased with last year’s grant.
YC felt items were value for money and had possibly of long term use given due care 
and attention.

£500

14.The Community  Hub:  
Junior Youth Group

£50 Funding sought to purchase age appropriate games and craft for Junior Youth 
Group ages 8 to 11 years.

YC felt current resources not appropriate for younger youth and new items essential.

£50

TOTAL: £3, 980.00

15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

12 March 2018

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES IN HEDGE
END, WEST END AND BOTLEY

Report of the Local Area Manager in consultation with the Clerks to 
Hedge End Town Council, West End Parish Council and Botley 

Parish Council

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 
approve the revised documents outlining its Community Investment Programme 
Priorities for the period 2018 - 22 as shown in the Appendices to this report.

Purpose

The Community Investment Programme (CIP) priorities for Hedge End, West End and 
Botley (HEWEB) have been reviewed in consultation with local stakeholders. Members are 
invited to endorse these local area priorities for the period of 2018 – 22. 

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011

Strategic Implications

1. The current priorities are based on local need which has been identified by 
local stakeholders. This Committee is requested to approve the priorities 
which accord with the principles of the strategic project Local First and in 
particular the policy of taking local decisions at a local level.

2. The priorities are in line with the Council’s Corporate Plan and where possible 
the priorities have been categorised as social, recreational and environmental 
improvements which support the corporate themes.

Introduction

3. The Community Investment Programme priorities for 2016 – 21 were 
reviewed and agreed by this Committee approximately 15 months ago. Some 

17

Agenda Item 8



Eastleigh Borough Council

of these priorities have been achieved and it is therefore timely to update 
these priorities and to include new projects.

Consultation

4. The priorities have been reviewed and updated after consulting a number of 
local partners including the Clerks from the Town and Parish Councils and 
local members; requests and comments from residents, formal groups such 
as local associations and other constituted groups such as the Hedge End, 
West End and Botley Youth Partnership have also been taken into account.

5. Although the priorities have been assigned to their geographical locations in 
Hedge End, West End and Botley, some of them have a strategic importance 
for the whole HEWEB area, for example at Wildern School, the Ageas Bowl 
etc.

6. Reference has also been made to the Borough Council’s emerging local plan, 
draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Council priorities and strategies as 
shown in the appendices.

Importance of CIP Priorities

7. CIP priority lists may be used in negotiations with developers to secure 
appropriate and justifiable developers’ contributions which must be linked 
directly to the impact of any local development. They have been used 
extensively in recent planning inquiries.

8. The revised list of local priorities will also be referred to in the development of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for the Borough of Eastleigh.

9. It should be noted that a rolling Transport Schemes Inventory (TSI) is also 
maintained by the Council’s Transport and Engineering sections and 
Hampshire County Council.  Members of this Committee are requested to 
approve the allocation of Developers’ Contributions on a regular basis and 
therefore the TSI is reported separately to the Committee.

10. Eastleigh Borough Council’s Public Art Strategy has been adopted and a 
section of this relates to projects within the HEWEB area.

Review of CIP priorities

11. It is proposed that the priorities continue to be reviewed and updated after 
consultation with local stakeholders resulting in an annual report to be formally 
agreed by this Committee.

12. It is also important to confer with the relevant Borough Council lead specialists 
as corporate policy, strategy and delivery is continuing to be developed within 
the new Council structure.

18



Eastleigh Borough Council

Financial Implications

13. An updated and evidence based CIP list is essential in order to justify 
requests for developers’ contributions. Investment in the local infrastructure 
and amenities would be severely restricted if not permanently lost, without this 
list.

Risk Assessment

14. There are no other risks associated with this report

Equality and Diversity Implications

15. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out as the recommendation relates to the 
priorities for the Community Investment Programme. The equality and 
diversity implications will be assessed when funding is allocated. 

Conclusion

16. Members are requested to review and approve the proposed CIP lists for 
Hedge End, West End and Botley for the period of 2018-22.

JULIA BIRT

Local Area Manager 

Date: 14 February 2018
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 023 8068 8437
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 3

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None

19



This page is intentionally left blank



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

1

LOCATION

HE.1  Wildern School Community 
Facilities

i)
ii)
iii) i) Recreation Facilities 

          

                  

                                               

ii) Berry Theatre                 
                                              

                                              

PROPOSAL

HEWEB will contribute to the 
upgrade of community facilities 
with the Community 
Management Committee when 
the business case is established 
for community use.

Replace and upgrade Swimming 
pool roof 
Install spectator seating                           

Create a new all-weather football 
pitch                   

Upgrades and additions to fabric 
and equipment                               

                                  

PRIORITY

H

H

H

H

M

FUNDING (£)

710,000
   
  70,000

400,000

As per schedule

COMMENT

Wildern (Academy) is a key partner in 
community provision providing local 
residents access to sports and 
recreation, performing arts, cinema 
and drama.

Swimming pool roof upgrade is 
urgent. Swimming pools are well used 
by the local population and there is a 
thriving swimming club, Wildern 
Waves. 

Playing Pitch strategy shows that 
there is a shortfall in junior playing 
pitches in the local community

A successful local theatre with 
growing community audiences. 
A corporate facility.

21



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

2

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

HE.2 Youth Centre - Wildern Lane 
“The Box”                              
                                                                                     

  
Transport for youth  

Youth centre - capital contribution 
to equipping/
fitting out a multi purpose café 
and outdoor area.    

Youth Mini – bus                             

L

L

10,000 additional/
fittings/equipment
replacement 

25,000

Improving provision for young people 
is a high priority. 
HEWEB funding for outdoor area – 
2017.

“Street talk” mini bus devolved to 
HETC in spring 2012. Joint funding to 
be discussed with the HEWEB Youth 
partnership.

HE.3  Hedge End Library      Extend library with improved 
provision for community, stock 
expansion and enlarged children’s 
area                                                                                      

H 700,000 (tbc) Desirable that library provision is 
expanded in line with local housing 
and population growth.  Currently 
library inadequate and too small 
though improved facilities, self - 
scanners and volunteers have increase 
opening hours since 2012.

22



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

3

HE.4  Drummond Community 
Centre – improvements              
                                                
                                                  

Upgrade car parking                  
Surface and lighting      

            

a) Improve community facilities - 
new floor and kitchen required  

b) Renew play area – 2020           
c) Resurfacing of car park            
d) Lighting of car park                   

H

L
L
L

55,000 (floor) 5,000 
(kitchen)

60,000
100,000
10, 000

Nearby Dowd’s Farm and Grange Park 
residents demand this building is 
maintained as a high quality asset.
Owned by HETC.  

Improved facilities/exterior lighting 
but could be limited due to proximity 
of neighbours.    
                            

HE.5  Hedge End Village Hall
St Johns Road         
 

Incremental improvements 
desirable to building.                   
                        

L  2,000 Managed by Voluntary Trustees 
Need to write an asset management 
plan.

HE.6   Hedge End Youth & 
Community Association (HEYCA) 
                                               

Former school building, upgrade 
equipment and refurbish.                                       

H 250,000 Managed and owned by HETC from 
April 2018.  Popular facility despite 
the condition of the facility.
HEWEB commissioned a building 
condition survey which has resulted in 
a prioritised schedule.

HE.7 Rolling programme of local 
improvements to public access. 

                                                                                                   

Upgrade kissing gates/access to 
public open space, community  
halls and key footpath routes
                                                   

M/H Dependent on project 
appraisal

Equality of access for all sectors of 
community is a local priority. Many 
local assets devolved to HETC.  
Community buildings where 
investment would benefit 
disabled/elderly residents.

23



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

4

HE.8 Dowd’s Farm/Grange Park Upgrade and extend provision for 
older children

H Proposals could 
include a zip wire; 
climbing wall 

Current provision is not meeting 
demand from teenagers especially.

HE.9 Norman Rodaway Pavilion and 
Recreation Ground              
                                               

                                                  

                                                  
                                                 

Improve Pavilion facilities for 
community users and spectators.   
a. Main Hall 
b. Acoustic ceiling 
c. Kitchen 
                                                   
      

Improvements to changing rooms 
designated for football                                                                        
Play area renewal 2019/20               
Consider floodlighting pitches/car 
park                                                        

M

H

M

L

30,000
5,000
5,000

60,000
 

80,000

98,000 

A well managed facility owned by 
HETC.  There is clear need and 
opportunity to extend/improve 
community provision on this site.
Refurbish community building directly 
managed by HETC.

Play area is in strategic location

Consider car park lighting 
Link to major recreation ground 
project HE 22(A)  with spectator 
facilities and floodlit ground

24



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

5

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

OPEN SPACE/INFRASTRUCTURE
HE.10  Locke Road Play area/
Open space   
                              

Renew play area 2019/20          H 85,000 Important strategic play facility

HE.11 Woodhouse Lane 

              

Skate park, youth area and bowls 
facilities - 
Continuous enhancement of 
youth area/ facilities and 
skateboarding desirable            

M

Ongoing project  
45,000 minimum 

Second phase completed in 2011 with 
skateboard area enlarged – further 
improvements to this area are 
required.
Further enhancements in consultation 
with HEWEB Youth Partnership and 
HETC.  Funding for drainage and 
mounds approved in 2015.

HE.12  Turnpike Way Recreation 
Ground/ Wildern Nature 
Reserve                                                           

a) Upgrade pavilion car park       
b) Enhance walks, informal areas 
in adjacent nature reserve              
c) Play area renewal 2019/20           
d) Cricket pitch                               

M

M
H
H

100,000

10,000
60,000*
TBA

Turnpike Way Recreation Ground and 
the adjacent nature reserve are major 
community assets which need 
continuous upgrading and 
enhancement.  Directly managed by 
HETC.
Play area – drainage works completed.

25



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

6

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

HE.13  Greta Park Improvements
                                                

a) Improve/upgrade youth   
facilities.                                         
b) Enhance landscaping of 
parklands.  Revise layout of 
pitches and increase provision by 
improved drainage.                     

c) Upgrade changing rooms        

M

M

H

120,000
Rolling programme

50,000

Greta Park is an important focal point 
for formal/informal recreation.
Opportunities to upgrade youth 
facilities already taken. Park managed 
by Hedge End Town Council.  It is the 
‘Town Park’ and benefits the whole 
Council area.
Recommendations from Playing Pitch 
Strategy support proposals)
Consider upgrade of changing rooms 
with library project.

HE.14 Grange Park Greenway – 
Linear route adjacent to railway line 
and through to Locke Rd     

Upgrade footpaths/signage on 
informal walkers route                

H 20,000 - 40,000 Opportunity to create ‘Green 
Corridor’ managed to promote 
biodiversity.
Northern sector transferred to HETC 
in 2010.

HE.15 Aspen Close and adjacent 
woodland                                   
  
                                                  

Small play area consider renewal 
2019/20                                

M 40,000 Devolved to HETC in 2000.  Play area 
renewed in 2008.

HE.16 Westward Road                    Play area and open space consider 
renewal 2020/21                

M 60,000 Devolved to HETC in 2000, play area 
renewed 2008.

HE.17 Beattie Rise                      

                                                   

a) Play area renewal/extension 
2020/21                                               
b) Improve balance 
pond/landscaping                        

M

M

65,000

30,000

Open space with balance pond, youth 
shelter, kickabout area and play area
Popular local recreation ground.
HEWEB Youth Partnership Plan.

26



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

7

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED(£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

                                                      

HE.18 St John’s Recreation Ground                                         
                                                   

a) Renew play area 2021-22      
b) Upgrade paddling pool        
c) Replacement of Paddling pool         
seating/picnic area               
d)   Improvement to open space          
facilities - seating                                                           

L
H

M
M

85,000
Circa 160,000

3,000
5,000

A very popular recreation ground 
managed by HETC.

HE.19 Nelson Gardens play area 
                                                   

Renew play area – 2019/20                                                                                 M 60,000 Well used play area. Fire damage in 
2014.

27



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

8

LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING REQUIRED 
(£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

COMMUNITY SAFETY
HE.20 'Community Safety' 
Initiatives

                                               

Improve pedestrian routes 
(particularly to local schools/
shopping centres and public 
amenities)                                           
Defensive planting and improved 
lighting of key routes.                  

H

M

250,000 approx.

Cost dependent on site 
appraisal

Community Safety a high priority - 
funds will enable additional street 
lights/safer paths/road crossing points. 
Landscape improvement/fencing to be 
installed.  CCTV extension to Town 
Centre.
Footpath priorities-Bursledon Road/St. 
John’s Road/Chapel Drove/Granada 
Road/ St. Catherine’s Hill.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS
HE.21  Hedge End Town Centre Major environmental 

improvements. Regeneration of 
shopping/retail environment         
Hard/soft landscaping.
Street scene enhancements.
CCTV extensions 

Upgrade public toilets                           

H

M

880,000 

80 - 100,000 
(estimated cost but 
dependent on location 
and design)

Regeneration of Town Centre a local 
priority which may be development 
led.
In 2018, develop strategy in 
consultation with HCC, HETC and 
Traders with a phased approach.

28



REVISED March 2018 Appendix A 

HEDGE END – COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2018-22 

9

HEDGE END – PROJECTS DEPENDENT ON DEVELOPMENT
LOCATION PROPOSALS PRIORITY FUNDING REQUIRED 

(£)
JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

HE.22  Woodhouse Lane 
Development

HE.22(A)  New Recreation Ground - 
Hedge End (access from Botleigh 
Lakeside or Woodhouse Lane) 
Strategic development        

a) New recreation ground
b) Community facilities
c) School
d) Landscaping/sewerage
e) Highways improvements        

Major strategic Project to acquire 
and layout open space - 
particularly for recreation/
Football on site at rear of 
Berrywood School.                           

H

H

TBC

Under review

Local Plan. HCC land ownership. 

Hedge End has a shortfall of playing 
pitches.
(Phase I enclose HCC land from Kings 
Copse School transfer known as 
Berrywood Meadows.  Fencing, 
upgraded access with height barriers 
and gates). 

HE.23 Land south of Foord Road a) Pedestrian & cycle links
b) Highway improvements
c) Sewerage/drainage                  

H Funded as part of 
planning agreement

Application approved.

HE.24 Household Waste Recycling 
Centre, Shamblehurst Lane

Possible relocation of the 25th 
Scout Group                                    

H TBC If this development occurs, there may 
be a requirement for suitable long 
term local provision for the scouts.

HE.25 Home Farm, St. John’s Road Transfer of woodland into public 
ownership

H Funded as part of 
planning agreement.

HETC to manage

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEMES/PUBLIC ART STRATEGY

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

SOCIAL & RECREATIONAL
WE.1 West End Parish 
Centre

Kitchen extension - Main Hall                                                                           5,000 M Current facility needs upgrading to maintain 
standards.

WE.2 Hilldene Centre          Upgrade facilities; improve access 
particularly for elderly and disabled.  
(rated as per Association’s schedule)
                                                            
                                           

35,000 M Highly successful community centre (old school 
building) requiring a series of minor capital works to 
enable upgrade. 
Well-planned and prioritised schedule produced by 
Management Committee of Hilldene Community 
Association. – separate document

Funding approved for car park in 2017.
WE.3 Townhill Farm 
Community Centre 

Upgrade of toilets and internal 
decoration in the foyer                                             

6,000 H Centre is the only community focal point serving the 
western side of the Parish.  Excellent community 
programme .Directly managed by WEPC
Strategic priority for WEPC 

WE.4 Youth 
zone/children’s play 
area/community 
facilities. Hatch Farm 
development.

Improve youth/children’s 
play/MUGA/skate park/community 
facilities and drainage. 

To include bike trail linked to open 
space and Hatch Farm development.                                                                  

Agreed H Growing population in the area.  Need to provide 
more facilities for youth recreation and informal 
leisure.
Links to Barnsland OS as part of approved Hatch Farm 
brief 2012. 

31



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

PRIORITY JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

WE.5 Moorgreen Road 
Recreation Ground and 
the ‘Youthouse’. 

Upgrade community facilities in 
Youthouse.  

            

 Play area upgrade                    
                  

TBC

60,000 M

Continuous improvements desirable.  Increase range 
of equipment and facilities but minimise potential 
conflict between near neighbours.  Managed by West 
End Parish Council.

Play area due for complete renewal by 2020.

WE.6 Cutbush Lane 
Recreation Ground

Upgrade of Pavilion or provision of 
storage for outside equipment 

52,000 M Pavilion managed by WEPC and recently upgraded to 
accommodate Chartwell Youth Club. On-going 
upgrade required to meet customers’ needs.

WE.7 West End Library Talking Books/Large Print/Early Years 
book stock – visually impaired/ 
elderly and young persons

2,500 H Growing population of elderly residents requiring 
extended choice of library materials.

WE.8 Open space near 
Harbourne Gardens, 
Chartwell Gardens

Installation of play equipment                                30,000 H Requires local consultation - multi - use area for 
younger children with picnic tables?

WE.9 Ageas Bowl Community projects as specified in 
master plan

TBC M Major extension to the Poseidon Boxing Club facilities 
in 2015
NB. A master plan for the site is being developed to 
further extend this community hub.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS
LOCATION PROPOSAL FUNDING 

REQUIRED (£)
PRIORITY JUSITFICATION/COMMENT

32



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

WE.10  Village Centre 
Environmental 
Improvements/
Community Safety

Upgrade of shopping zone to include 
car parking provision especially for 
disabled parking 

                                         

85,000 max H Continuous improvement to shopping zone and 
infrastructure required. WEPC priority - A well - used 
location in close proximity to a large number of 
houses.
Public toilet provision due to be installed in 2018.

WE.11 Community 
Safety Initiatives – Safe 
routes

Improve pedestrian routes 
particularly to local schools/shopping 
centres and public amenities.                                           

80,000 H Community safety a high local priority.  Funds will 
enable additional street lights/safer paths/road 
crossing points/landscape improvements, fencing and 
barriers to be installed. Townhill to be included as 
well as the High Street.
Plan will be informed partly by HCC and EBC’S traffic 
studies.

WE.12 Cutbush 
Lane/Townhill Farm

Improve streetscene
Repaint barriers, hedge 
planting/fencing/provision of litter 
bins                                     

21,000 H
Phased programme of improvement in response to 
residents’ and police concerns.

WE.13 Old Fire 
Station/Museum

Continual upgrade of Museum and 
facility. External decoration and 
repair including replacement 
windows/doors/external stairs.                       

42,000 H Prominent building – part on Conservation area.
Base for well-established Local History society.

WE.14 Additional Street 
Lighting

Improve lighting of footpaths/key 
routes.                        

900 per street 
light

M Incremental improvements to key areas desirable – 
subject to PFI contract and as required.
Police concerned at lighting levels particularly around 
communal car parks/district centres.

WE.15 Telegraph 
Woods

Improve/upgrade footpaths and 
access especially for those with 
disabilities                                   

15,000 H £15,000 required to continue phase 3 works.  
Ongoing project to include tree clearance.33



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

WE.16 West End Copse 
/Chartwell Copse

 Improve accessibility especially via 
upgraded footpaths

 20,000         H Devolved to WEPC in 2012.

Path network needs to be upgraded in line with 
Management Plan.
Very proactive “Friends of” group.

WE.17 Disabled Access 
Routes

Key routes requested by wheelchair 
users.                                                     

20,000 - varies 
per route

H Required at Townhill Way/Telegraph Road/Hilldene 
Centre/St. James’ Church/West End Road/Lower New 
Road

WE.18 Public seating 
and street scene

Create new public seating areas with 
bins on key routes in and around 
village centre and Parish                     

12,000 
(estimate 1,000 
per site)

H Elderly/disabled persons and resident keen that 
seating be provided on key routes.  
Promote health walking – linked to
West End Parish Plan.

WE.19 Parish footpath 
network

Upgrade  access with footpaths  
upgrade /signage ( priority    
cemetery/burial road and links to 
Barnsland area                            

Circa 26,000 M/H Parish footpath network should be upgraded and 
extended to DDA standards. Particular priority around 
Cemetery/Burial
Ground and Barnsland routes and Upper New Road.

WE.20 Itchen Valley 
Country Park - 
Responsibility for the 
Country Park is devolved 
to HEWEB (Green Flag 
awarded annually since 
2009).

High Barn facilities and related public 
areas:
Develop new catering area                                                  

TBC H

Extended and improved catering offer in 2018

34



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

Enhancements to Outdoor 
educational areas.

                                                  

14,000 H Greater provision for visiting schools and groups to 
appreciate and enjoy outdoor environmental 
education. 

Outdoor public areas - rolling 
programme of renewal and upgrade 
of smaller scale infrastructure

20,000 M Retention of Green Flag status requires continuous 
improvement.

High Barn childrens play area.  
Replace in 2022.                                     

60,000 M Popular facility.

High Field play area  - Upgrade in 
2020

60,000 M Promoting active children’s play.  A ‘Green Flag’ 
priority to keep this play area in top condition.

Renewal of play trail                            £20,000 H One off replacement in 2018. Then rolling 
programme of replacement/upgrade.

Waymarked Trails 16,000 H Improvements to woods and meadows trail and 
honeysuckle trail as “easy going” trails with all-year 
access.

Maps/interpretive panels/signage
.                        

New l entrance feature for Park                                                      

5,000 - 10,000

4,000

H

H

Information/interpretation panels.  Linked to ‘Green 
Flag’ status.

Appropriate for entrance to Green Flag Country Park. 
Gateway public arts project also under consideration

Extend licensed bridle route to 
connect to new public access via 
Hogwood Lane                                     

30,000 M Project would not be required until new route from 
Allington Lane to IVCP boundary via Hogwood Lane 
established. Routes under discussion with the British 
Horse Society

35



REVISED March 2018 Appendix B

WEST END – COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 – 22

WE.21 Moorgreen 
Meadows 
Conservation/Nature 
area

Fencing adjacent to Tollbar Way.  
Public footpath waymarkers 
interpretive panels   
enhancements/gates/bridges            

26,000 H Phase 1 works completed – adjacent to Dowd’s Farm 
development - £8,500.
Phase 2 longer term enhanced management - 
£15,500

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEME AND PUBLIC ART STRATEGY

NB These priorities have been developed in consultation with West End Parish Council, Hampshire County Council and local organisations. Details of the 
Parish Plan can be found in a separate document.

36



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

1

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING
 REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

SOCIAL & RECREATIONAL PROJECTS

B.1 Botley Market Hall (Listed building 
run by a charitable trust) 

 - replacement windows
-  PV panels
-  energy efficient heating
 - clock and tower renovation
              

H
M
M
H

9,000
TBC
TBC
12,000

UPVC
PV panels feasibility study required
Subject to building survey
Asset Management Plan is being updated and 
will be referred to for future projects

B.2 Entrance to Lovers Lane/Four Acre Upgrade entrance area/signage                
Footway improvements              

H

H

11,300

7,000 

Upgrade surface; popular local walking route 
requires public footpath signage.
Shared project with HCC - rights of way

B.3 Kings Copse Avenue
Corridor/Havendale area

Environmental/Community Safety 
improvements. Safer footpath 
routes.                                                                                       

M 80,000 Scope for improving street scene and ensuring 
safe routes to school recommendations
are integrated.
NOTE: Botley Parish Council request a reduction 
in the speed limit for Kings Copse Avenue to 
30mph.

B.4(A) Botley Centre – car park Extend current car park by 
minimum of 8 spaces resurface 
and mark out bays                                  

Improve aspect to front onto High 

H 40,000 Car parking capacity under considerable pressure 
due to extensive community use. Park and Stride 
facility.

37



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

2

PROJECT/LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING
 REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.4(B)i  Mortimer Road - car park

B.4(B)ii Mortimer Road - toilet block

Street gateway/fencing/landscape 
scheme

Demolish and create extra car 
parking spaces

H

M

10,000 include 
dropped kerbs

65,000
Toilet block has been closed for 8/9 years. 
Shortage of car parking in Botley village and for 
Botley Recreation Ground. Extra car parking 
spaces would also be used for Park and Stride at 
Botley Primary School.

B.5 Botley Centre All Weather Pitches Surface replacement. Anticipated 
2020                                           

M Estimated 
total cost 
50,000

Well used recreational asset with proven 
programme of community use. BPC has a sinking 
fund from any surplus income.

B.6 Sports Pitches Creation of additional junior/adult 
pitches provision. Drainage 
improvements.                               

M TBC  
 EBC Playing Pitch Strategy reveals a small deficit 
in junior playing pitches in Hedge End, West End 
and Botley.
Significant constraints at Little Hatts. Possibility 
of a free standing goal unit?
Grass pitches to be provided at Boorley Park.

B.7 Dual use pavilion for cricket and 
football - Botley Recreation Ground

New pavilion/store/lounge/ 
kitchen and scoreboard.                              

M 196,000 Upgraded pavilion will provide year round 
benefits. Refer to EBC Playing Pitch Strategy to 
decide whether football or cricket should take 
precedence

38



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

3

COMMUNITY SAFETY
LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 

REQUIRED (£)
JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.8 Botley Square/Village Centre CCTV 
system

Current partnership with Co-op 
and traders for local system to
monitor square.
 

M £15,000 – 
local system 
renewal

Review of crime figures and discussions with local 
Police to take place on an annual basis to justify 
system upgrade and/or extension.

B.9 Improve informal Youth Provision Youth shelters, designation of 
areas for young people to meet – 
enhanced skateboarding, cycling, 
informal recreation provision.        

H 32,000 Address residential/parish concerns on diverting 
youths from nuisance/vandalism.  
Specific project under consideration is the 
upgrade of the small skate ramp at the 
Recreation Ground; built in 2004.

B.10 Restrict access to open 
spaces/recreation ground/Pudbrook

Review and implement measures 
to prevent travellers / joy riding 
vehicles. (High quality measures 
could include heritage style 
bollards / shin rails / public 
seating).                                    

H 15,000 Police advise ongoing threat of travellers and joy 
riding throughout southern parishes.
Sites include Nursesland, Recreation Ground, 
Little Hatts, Pudbrook and Cheping Gardens

39



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

4

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.11 Botley Village Centre Maintain attractiveness of village 
centre specifically with an 
upgrade of the street scene in 
Botley Square.    
Environmental improvements to 
reduce fear and threat of crime. 
Measures to reduce air pollution 
at street level. 
                

M Total costs 
estimated at 
450,000.
Individual 
projects to be 
costed as 
funding 
becomes 
available

The draft Conservation Area Appraisal states that 
Botley Square requires refurbishment/upgrade of 
street furniture and signage. 
Important visitor/shopping environment.  The 
Square to be reviewed regarding priority areas 
for refurbishment including damaged footpaths 
and paviours. Local Plan identifies this area as a 
local centre and Botley Bypass project will 
influence proposals.

B.12 Rolling programme  for local 
public halls/shops/mill and amenities

Enhance accessibility to public 
lands, community facilities to 
comply with best practice.             

H 45,000 A local priority for both HEWEB and Parish 
Council. The designated Botley conservation area 
demands sensitive upgrades in accessibility to 
shops and public building.
Specific project identified for emergency ramp 
adjacent to Parish Centre.

B.13 Mortimer Rd/High St corner Enhanced landscape scheme in 
consultation with residents i.e. 
heritage style railings, shrub beds, 
boxed hedging                                 

M 16,000 Improved visual amenity to achieve excellent 
standard as per opposite corner.

40



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

5

OPEN SPACE
LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 

REQUIRED (£)
JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.14 Pudbrook open space with 
potential Western link to Brook Lane 

Develop footpath routes up to 
Lovers Lane.
Interpretive panels/new 
signage/kissing gates and 
enlarged pond.                        

Link to Brook Lane and secure 
open space.  
                                         

H

H

M

20,000

18,000
3,500 for new 
pond

12,000

Land devolved to Botley Pc Spring 2011

New footpath required due to erosion by nearby 
stream.

B.15 Holmesland area/Maffey Court Improve and fence open space 
areas

H 12,000 Reduce nuisance/increase child safety.

B.16 Botley Recreation Ground Informal wooden play trail
Fully Refurbish play area 2020             

M
M

9,000
60,000

Support to Parish Council to maintain ‘Green 
Flag’ status. Signage, seating, bins and amenity 
provision required on a rolling basis.

B.17 Ferndale/Marls Rd/Crusader 
Rd/Havendale Open Spaces

Improve landscaping/upgrade key 
routes to school/planting /seating                                                              

M 10,000 per 
site

41



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

6

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.18 Holmesland Open Spaces Improve landscaping/upgrade key 
routes /fencing/pathways                               

M 18,000

B.19 Little Hatts Recreation Ground   Upgrade youth zone/football unit 
with new youth shelter.                  
Re-new play area and picnic area 
with seating/signage.      
Footpath extensions/bridge/ 
kissing gates to Manor Farm.                     

H

H

H

31,000

75,000

40,000

Freehold transferred in 2011. Owned and 
managed by Botley PC.  Scope for further 
enhancement /Green Flag status by expanding 
wildflower areas/walks and signage.
Refer footpaths extensions bridging to Manor 
Farm and existing bridleway network to Local 
Plan.

B.20 Ravenscroft Way Public seating H 1,000 Local request and supported by the Parish 
Council

42



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

7

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.21 Parish noticeboards Upgrade and increase supply M £600 per 
board

Mainly for the village centre but also within the 
new Boorley Park development.

B.21 Nursesland Gate entrance to the 
High Street Recreation Ground.

Drainage of rainwater H 23,779 The gateway is at the original entrance to 
the site from the High Street but the 
‘roadway’ outside the gate is not adopted 
highway, it is a shared access. Nowadays 
the Nursesland entrance is part of the ‘Park 
and Stride’ route used by children and 
parents from Botley School. During periods 
of heavy rain surface water run off from 
the recreation ground causes large puddles 
making this section of the route difficult to 
walk.
The Parish Council has obtained a detailed 
technical quote from a commercial 
contractor to install a surface water 
drainage system to capture and retain the 
run off before it reaches the gate. 

43



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

8

PROJECTS DEPENDENT ON DEVELOPMENT
LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 

REQUIRED (£)
JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.22 Extend allotments and 
community hut

Allotments oversubscribed   
negotiate extension with HCC on 
extension of land – infrastructure 
to include irrigation, paths & fence 
and community hut/WC.       

Improve security - fencing and 
gates/locks.                    

M

M

80,000 + land

15,000

Excellent partnership forged between Allotment 
Association and Botley PC
Local Plan

 

B.23 Cemetery Cemetery extension required. 
Capacity circa 180 + cremation 
plots to be clarified reflecting 
population growth.                         

H To be costed Estimated capacity for 100 years. No burial space 
available since 2010. To include additional space 
for cremation plots. Explore further opportunities 
for ‘green’ burials.
Local Plan/dependent on development.

B.24 Boorley Green section 106 
projects

Community Centre                          
MUGA
Pavilion
Allotments
Play area
Open space
Pitches

H As per 
agreement

Part of S106 Agreement. Reserved matters 
agreed for the Pavilion and pitches.
Funding of fixtures and fittings to be determined.

44



REVISED March 2018 Appendix C

BOTLEY - COMMUNITY AND INFRASTRUCTURE PRIORITIES 2018 - 22

9

LOCATION PROPOSAL PRIORITY FUNDING 
REQUIRED (£)

JUSTIFICATION/COMMENT

B.25 Botley Mill Support preservation and exploit 
potential of Mill as an 
employment / trading / housing 
hub with  
pedestrian link to village centre                                                              

H/M To be costed 
(commercial 
partnership 
essential)

The Mill has potential to make a significant 
contribution to the social and economic vitality of 
Botley. Contributions towards employment and 
environmental enhancements.
 

B.26 Development north of Winchester 
Street

a) off-site transport proposals
b) Open space & play areas
c) Allotments
d) Pedestrian & cycle links
e) Employment uses on site 
f) Cemetery             

H To be costed HCC land ownership

B.27 Car parking around the Square Conduct a feasibility study into the 
future design of car parking 
provision in the square

H To be costed Dependent on Botley By-Pass as this project 
would require the narrowing of the High Street.

SEE SEPARATE INVENTORY (TSI) FOR PEDESTRIAN, CYCLING, MOTORISED TRANSPORT SCHEMES and PUBLIC ART STRATEGY

45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

12 March 2018

 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

   Report of the Local Area Manager 

Recommendations

It is recommended that this Committee:

(1) approves the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £116,100 to the 
Wildern Swimming Pool roof and spectator seating project;

(2) approves the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £50,032 towards 
the renovation and refurbishment of Hedge End Youth and Community 
Association (HEYCA);

(3) approves the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £60,000 to the 
extension of Dowd’s Farm Play Area;

(4) approves the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £168,134 to the 
skate park at Hatch Farm and improvements to Barnsland Recreation Ground;

(5) approves the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £3,000 to the Botley 
Allotment Association:

(6) approves revenue expenditure of £2,000 for the Park Sport programme in 
Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB);

(7) notes revenue expenditure of £4,104 for 9 flower towers within HEWEB; 

(8) approves funding of £22,000 from reserves for car parking provision adjacent 
to numbers 65 – 70 Midlands Estate, West End; and

(9) approves funding of £10,000 from reserves for car parking provision adjacent 
to numbers 29 – 58 Ratcliffe Road, Hedge End

Purpose
The recommended funding will support projects which meet identified local needs. The 
projects will also contribute to the achievement of corporate priorities.

Statutory Powers
Section1 Localism Act 2011 

47

Agenda Item 9



Eastleigh Borough Council

Strategic Implications

1. The proposed projects contribute to the Council’s strategic priorities especially 
in relation to Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing. The majority of the 
projects have been identified in this Committee’s Community Investment 
Programme as priorities. All of the projects are based on local need and are 
therefore in accordance with the Local First project.

Wildern Swimming Pool

2. Councillors will be aware that this Committee has prioritised the replacement 
of the swimming pool roof at Wildern Leisure Centre as shown in the 
Community Investment Programme (HE:1). 

3. This project is also highlighted in the Council’s Sport and Active Lifestyles 
Strategy and Wildern Leisure Centre is recognised as a strategic hub site for 
the Borough’s leisure provision.

4. The Centre is also home to Wildern Waves which is thriving as a swimming 
club but club members have to travel to galas due to the lack of spectator 
seating at Wildern. Spectator seating will also be beneficial for pupils and of 
course for parents and guardians watching during public swimming lessons.

5. A site visit has been held with Council and leisure centre staff to finalise the 
scope of the project. Further work needs to be completed concerning an 
estimate of the project costs which at this stage are thought to be in the region 
of £780,000.

6. Funding from Sport England does not look likely at this stage as the current 
funding programmes that are open for application relate more to activities than 
capital programmes and also Sport England has already made a substantial 
investment in the new Places Leisure Eastleigh facility.

7. Councillors are asked to approve the formal allocation of the future 
developers’ contributions

DC   F/15/76804 Foreman Homes, St John's Road £50,000 for the pool 
roof

DC  F/17/80651 – Foreman Homes Ltd re Land west of Waylands Place 
and north of Peewit Hill Close, Hedge End £66,100 for spectator seating

8. The remaining funding will be found via the New Homes Bonus and this was 
confirmed at Council on 22 February 2018.  

Hedge End Youth and Community Association (HEYCA)

9. The HEYCA building was formally a school and represents a significant part of 
Hedge End’s heritage. It is a popular venue and attracts customers from all 
sections of the community. 

48



Eastleigh Borough Council

10. The building is in need of repair and consequently this Committee approved a 
building condition survey which estimated that works were needed at a cost of 
£250,000. The top priority for these works is the drainage closely followed by 
upgrades to the roof. 

11. The Centre is owned by Hedge End Town Council and has been managed for 
many years by a voluntary Association. However the intention from April, 
subject to the outcome of an Extraordinary meeting of the Association in 
March, is that the Centre will be managed by the Town Council.  

12. At the Town Council’s Finance and Administration Committee on 6 February 
2018, it was agreed that the Town Council would contribute £50,000 towards 
the renovation and refurbishment of HEYCA.

13. Members of this Committee are asked to approve the allocation of £50,032 
towards these upgrades.

DC   F/15/76804 Foreman Homes, St John's Road £30,000

DCV/11/68617 Foreman Homes, Kings Copse School, Hedge End £20,032 

Additional funding will be found via the New Homes Bonus and this was 
confirmed at Council on 22 February 2018. 

 20,032.28
Dowd’s Farm Play Area/Infrastructure

14. Hedge End Town Council own and manage the open space at Dowd’s Farm. 
Given that the Dowd’s Farm development is now completed and the need to 
provide for young people from Grange Park, it is timely that the Town Council 
has decided to review its play provision in this area. In particular, councillors 
are considering the activities and infrastructure for older children and the 
zoning of the open space.

15. At the recent Finance and Administration Committee, councillors agreed to 
allocate £60,000 to extend the Dowd’s Farm Play Area and associated 
facilities. 

16. In light of available developers’ contributions, members are asked to approve 
the allocation of match funding, ie, £60,000 towards this project as follows:-

DCF/12/71663 Town Quay Developments, Wildern Mill, Charles Watts Way, 
Hedge End PART £20,707.67

OSV/11/68617Foreman Homes, Kings Copse School, Hedge End  £7,797.23

OSV/11/68617 Foreman Homes, Kings Copse School, Hedge End   £7,795.34

OSF/12/71663 Town Quay Developments, Wildern Mill, Charles Watts Way, 
Hedge End  £20,933.31

OS   F/15/76668  Mr M Muddiman, 30 Bursledon Rd, Hedge End  £2,766.45

49



Eastleigh Borough Council

31DCF/12/71663Town Quay Developments, Wildern Mill, Charles Watts Way, Hedge End Receipt Date:26/08/2014 41,794.31
Skate Park and improvements to Barnsland Recreation 
Ground – Hatch Farm

17. Skate parks are already provided for in Hedge End and Botley but there is no 
provision in West End. As a result, the development brief for Hatch Farm in 
West End identified an area of land for a skate park. 

18. A new skate park in West End was supported by the HEWEB Youth 
Partnership and is recognised as a priority within the Partnership’s Plan. It is 
also contained within this Committee’s CIP priorities and is recorded as WE.4

19. The Section 106 (Planning) agreement for the Hatch Farm development 
contains £168,134 for a skate park and improvements to Barnsland 
Recreation Ground and members are requested to approve the allocation of 
the anticipated developer’s contribution as shown:-

DC   F/15/77718 Radian, Land at Hatch Farm, North of Barbe Baker Ave., 
West End. £168,134

20. If this is approved, it is anticipated that consultation will begin with local 
stakeholders and ultimately the skate park will transfer to West End Parish 
Council. Barnsland is already owned and managed by the Parish.

Allotments in Botley

21. The Allotment Association in Botley is seeking funding for a fencing project. It 
will initiate some fundraising but Councillor Kyrle has been approached about 
the possible allocation of funds from this Committee.

22. This project is contained within the CIP programme for Botley so members are 
asked to approve the allocation as shown:-

OS C/15/77172 Ibex Land Property, re Winchester Street (PART) – £3,000 
OS   C/15/77172  Ibex Land 10,442.84

Park Sport

23. This initiative has run for the last 13 years and provides accessible leisure 
activities across the Borough for those aged 8 – 16 in the school summer 
holidays. It is dependent on sponsorship from the 5 local areas and external 
organisations such as Vivid Housing Association as well as the local town and 
parish councils.

24. In 2017, youngsters had the opportunity to take part in a number of activities 
in HEWEB such as basketball, dance, martial arts, tennis, netball, cricket, 
football, swimming and a skate jam.

25. Councillors are requested to approve expenditure of £2,000 from the 
Committee’s revenue budget. This will be used to provide a similar 
programme in HEWEB this summer. 

50



Eastleigh Borough Council

Flower towers

26. In previous years, the Council’s Direct Services team has negotiated the 
provision and supply of flower towers across the Borough. Historically 9 flower 
towers have been installed in the shopping areas within HEWEB.

27. Residents and business owners have commented positively about the flower 
towers.

28. Due to the planting season, prior permission for expenditure of £4,104 for the 
9 flower towers has had to be given by the Chair so members are asked to 
note this approval which will be funded from the Committee’s revenue budget.

Midlands Estate 

29. Following concerns from residents about parking opposite the properties 
numbered 65 – 70, this Committee authorised funding for a feasibility study to 
review options.

30. Two meetings with residents and councillors have been held. The first 
meeting gave residents the opportunity to raise issues directly with councillors 
and staff. As a result of this meeting, 5 options were devised.

31. At the second meeting on 24 January, residents and councillors agreed to 
Option 5 which could provide additional spaces at an estimated cost of 
£22,000. This option would also remove vehicles from the corner of the road 
which is considered to be a significant safety improvement. Further work on 
this option and authorisation from the Highways Authority is required but 
members are asked to approve £22,000 from reserves in order to progress 
these works.

32. Councillors should also be aware that the land at the back of 65 – 70 is owned 
by Vivid and staff are investigating whether this can be used for car parking 
either in conjunction with Option 5 or in addition.

33. Councillors should also be aware that there is no obligation upon the 
Committee to provide this funding and it is undertaken without prejudice 
concerning any future schemes in the Midlands Estate and other areas of 
HEWEB with the exception of Ratcliffe Road.

Ratcliffe Road

34. Councillors will recall that residents had raised their concerns about parking in 
the vicinity of properties numbered 29 – 58 Ratcliffe Road, with the local ward 
members. 

35. A similar process was followed as outlined above for the Midlands Estate 
project. This has resulted in 6 options with a preferred option which will be 
discussed with residents after the Local Area Committee meeting on 12 
March.

51



Eastleigh Borough Council

36. Planning permission may be required but in order to progress this project to 
the next stage, councillors are requested to approve the allocation of £10,000 
from reserves. 

Financial Implications

37. All of the recommended funding streams can be afforded using this 
Committee’s revenue and reserves and developers’ contributions as stated.

Risk Assessment

38. There are no risks to the Committee in terms of on-going liabilities. If funding 
is not allocated, there is a risk that some of the Council’s corporate and local 
priorities will not be met. All of the developers’ contributions comply with the 
Community Infrastructure Levy regulations.

Equality and Diversity Implications

39. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out at this stage but this will be undertaken 
as projects come to fruition. Many of the projects will benefit young people by 
providing them with positive experiences.

Conclusion

40. The Committee is asked to approve the recommendations as outlined.  

JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date: 16 February 2018
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 023 8068 8437
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information

52



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 
12 March 2018.

Application Number: F/18/82351
Case Officer: Kitty Budden
Received Date: Friday 19 January 2018
Site Address: Highwood Barn, Itchen Valley Country Park, Allington Lane, 

West End, Southampton, SO30 3HG
Applicant: I Austin
Proposal: Alterations and additions to fenestration in front and rear 

elevations; addition of vent to front roof elevation; and 
erection of covered shelter to the west of the main building.

Recommendation: GRANT PERMISSION, subject to relevant conditions.

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 2680-D-0010, 6280-D-0001, 6280-D-0100, 6280-
D-0101, 6280-D-0102, 6280-D-0103, 6280-D-0104, 6280-D-0105, 6280-D-
0211, 6280-D-0252, 6280-D-0253, 6280-D-0253A, 6280-D-0255A, 6280-D-
0256, 6280-D-0257, 6280-D-0257A, 6280-D-0258, 6280-D-0300, 6290-D-0255. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 Work shall proceed in accordance with the recommendations set out in 
the Assessment of Impacts on Bats & Bat Mitigation Strategy (4 Woods 
Ecology, January 2018). Works must avoid the hibernating and 
maternity period for bats as set out in the report.  Reason: To conform 
with saved policy 25.NC.

3 Prior to the start of work, a lighting strategy to protect bats must be 
approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council. Reason: To conform 
with saved policy 25.NC.

4 Prior to first occupation, Eastleigh Borough Council shall receive written 
confirmation from an appropriately qualified ecologist that the 
development has been carried out in accordance with the approved 
mitigation strategy and lighting strategy.  Reason: To conform with 
saved policy 25.NC.

5 Details of the proposed vent shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority, prior to installation.  The vent 
and associated equipment shall be installed as per the approved 
details.  Reason: To minimise odour emissions.  

6 The materials to be used must match as closely as possible, in type, 
colour and texture those listed in Section 9 of the application form.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of 
the amenities of the area.

53

Agenda Item 11



Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because the site is owned by 
Eastleigh Borough Council. 

The Site and its Surroundings

1. The site comprises the Itchen Valley Country Park (IVCP) Visitor Centre 
and Woodlands Café (known as Highwood Barn); and the land within its 
immediate curtilage.  This building and the associated structures are set 
within Itchen Valley Country Park.  The park is open for public usage 
365 days of the year with vehicle access restricted approximately to 
between 0800 to 1900 in the winter and 2100 in the summer. It 
comprises of coniferous and broadleaf woodland wrapped around an 
area of amenity grassland with a visitor centre, woodland kindergarten, 
children’s play areas, BBQ areas, and paths and trails for walkers, 
cyclists and horse riders.  The site also contains a Go Ape course which 
is located on the western side of IVCP.

2. Most of the Country Park is designated as a Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINC). The development site is located in an area 
recognised as ancient woodland, although the building and associated 
structures are in an area clear of woodland which forms a boundary to 
the north of the buildings and east of the access road.  South of the site 
is open grazing land and to the west, beyond an area of woodland, 
flows the River Itchen.  A restricted access road passes through the 
application site to the south of Highwood Barn that allows access to 
grazing land and some controlled river access for certain parties.

Description of Application

3. This application comprises works to Highwood Barn which form part of a 
larger refurbishment to improve the café and visitor provision within the 
building, including an internal educational interactive play area for 
younger visitors; improvements to the existing play trail and the erection 
of an external covered shelter.  

4. A number of these works can be carried out under Permitted 
Development rights and do not require formal consent.  The alterations 
which require planning permission are:

 Addition of five windows at ground floor along the southwest section 
of the rear elevation; 

 Removal of door and window in northeast section of front elevation 
and insertion of new window; 

 Removal of existing roof light and insertion of vent to front roof 
elevation top serve new kitchen; and 

 Erection of covered shelter, 5.5 x 9.5m, to the west of the main 
building.

54



Relevant Planning History

5. A range of development has taken place within the Country Park to 
provide or improve the visitor experience.

Of most relevance to this application are:

Z/30618/002/00: Reserved Matters: Regulation 4 Erection Of Visitors 
Centre; Grant Deemed Consent, 31/05/1990;

Z/30618/004/00: Regulation 4 Application: Construction Of Two Storey 
Side Extension To Barn, grant deemed permission, 08/09/1992;

F/06/56914: Erection of amenity building containing toilets, changing 
room, Rangers room, kitchen and classroom, re-siting of existing play 
area and felling of trees, permitted, 14/06/2006;

F/07/59860: Excavation of new dipping pond and construction of 
wooden platform and formation of new access path, permitted, 
19/06/2007.

Representations Received

6. No representations received.

Consultation Responses

Ecology:

7. No ecological reasons for refusal, subject to the imposition of conditions 
requiring the development to accord with the recommendations set out 
in the bat mitigation strategy; provision of a lighting strategy to protect 
bats; and written confirmation that works have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Environmental Health:

8. Comments awaited.  Members to be updated at Committee.

HCC Minerals and Waste:

9. No comments received.

Airport Safeguarding:

10. No objection on safeguarding grounds.  Attention is drawn to the British 
Standard ‘Code for Practice for Safe Use of Cranes’ should a crane be 
required.

55



West End Parish Council:

11. No objection.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built-Up Area Boundary
 Within Site Of Nature Conservation Interest
 Within Airport Safeguarding Zone
 Within Minerals Consultation Zone

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan 
Policies

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 

 1.CO – Protection of intrinsic character of the countryside;
 10.CO – The replacement of a non-residential building in the 

countryside will be permitted subject to criteria including design and 
scale;

 18.CO – Development which fails to respect or has an adverse 
impact on the character of the landscape will be refused;

 23.NC – Development that would result in detrimental impact on 
SINC will not be permitted, unless can be demonstrated benefits of 
development outweigh the need to safeguard nature conservation 
value of site;

 28.ES - Refuse storage provision and collection; 
 59.BE - Requires good quality design and proposals to take 

appropriate account of their site context and surroundings, as well 
as neighbouring uses; 

 101.T - Transport contributions;
 104.T – Provision of off-highway parking;
 160.TA – Proposals to develop/expand/improve existing leisure 

facilities will be permitted subject to criteria i.-vii;
 191.IN - Provision of community infrastructure. 

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 
2014 Policies:

 S9 – Countryside and countryside gaps; 
 DM1 – General criteria for new development; 
 DM16 – Extension and replacement of non-residential buildings in 

the countryside; 
 DM23 - General development criteria – transport; 
 DM24 – Parking;
 DM33 – New and enhanced recreation and open space facilities.

12. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; 

56



and the Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the 
Secretary of State in July 2014.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011)

 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (December 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework

13. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Para 14 sets out a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and states that development proposals which 
accord with the development plan should be approved without delay. 
Where the development plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are 
out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless the adverse 
impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or specific 
policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted 
(paragraph 14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF 
are now deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight 
should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their 
degree of consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the 
policies in the plan accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater 
the weight that may be given.

14. The Framework recognises that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities (para. 73).  
Existing public open space should not be built on unless, an 
assessment has demonstrated the open space, buildings or land are 
surplus to requirements; the resultant loss would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in a suitable location; or the development 
is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweigh the loss (para. 74).

15. Para. 109 requires that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued landscapes; recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem 
services; minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in 
biodiversity where possible.  

National Planning Practice Guidance 

16. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications. 

57



Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
states:-
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise."

Principle of Development:

17. Due to the location of the development site within designated 
countryside, the local planning policies and guidance aim to restrict 
development to that which needs to take place in the countryside, or is 
appropriate to a rural area (Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-
2011, saved policy 1.CO).  In addition, much of the Country Park is 
designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC), 
protected by saved policy 23.NC which states that development that is 
likely to have a direct or indirect adverse effect on a SINC will not be 
permitted, unless it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that the benefits 
of the development outweigh the need to safeguard the nature 
conservation value of the site and mitigation measures are taken.

18. Itchen Valley Country Park has a dual function, to preserve and 
enhance biodiversity and educate people on environmental and 
ecological matters. As part of the vision for this service, the Itchen 
Valley Country Park Management Plan seeks to: 

‘- Provide high quality opportunities and facilities for recreation and 
access which respect the natural habitats and species found within the 
park;
- Provide events and activities which enable visitors to learn about local 
and global environmental issues and encourage them to live more 
sustainably;
-  Increase the value of the park for nature conservation by protecting 
and managing natural habitats and species;
- Encourage the widest possible range of visitors by identifying and 
where possible removing barriers to access.’

19. These accord with the Council’s Corporate Themes, which include ‘A 
Green Borough’ and ‘Healthy Communities’. 

20. The proposed works form part of a package of works intended to 
improve the visitor experience and enhance the educational features of 
the visitor centre for younger visitors, while minimising the impact on the 
ecological value of the park.  The works requiring planning consent are 
minimal and do not detrimentally affect the park or impact the 

58



countryside designation.  As such, it is considered the principle of the 
development is acceptable.  

Design and Layout:

21. The proposed works have very limited visual impact on the visitor 
centre, primarily comprising the addition of windows to the rear 
elevation at ground floor.  This, combined with the internal works, will 
provide a better internal environment for visitors and staff.  

22. The external shelter is located in courtyard with other visitor facilities 
and will provide shelter during inclement weather; additional shading 
when hot; and somewhere for visitors with dogs to sit.  The shelter is 
simple in design, appropriate for its location and well screened from 
access road.

23. It is considered the proposal accords with the requirements of Saved 
Policy 59.BE.

Ecological Matters:

24. Due to the minor nature of the works to the structure of Highwood Barn, 
and the location of these works in areas of the building where the 
evidence indicates bats do not roost, subject to the works being carried 
out in accordance with the submitted Bat Strategy, there is no impact on 
these protected species. As requested by the Council’s Ecological 
Advisor, conditions to ensure this can be reasonably applied.

25. The proposed external shelter is located away from the ancient 
woodland and in an area of existing hard standing.  As such, there is 
also no impact on ecology for this structure.  Should lighting be required 
for this structure, the design will need to take of the presence of bats in 
the locality.  This can be controlled via condition. 

26. In light of this, it is considered that the proposal does not impact the 
ecology of the SINC and therefore accords with Saved Policy 23.NC.

Highway and Parking Matters:

27. The proposed works that require consent do not facilitate the 
intensification of the use of the country park, rather they improve the 
experience for existing and future users.  As such, there are no 
significant impacts on the highways in the locality and no changes to the 
parking arrangements are necessitated.   

Airport Safeguarding:

28. No objection has been raised in relation to aerodrome safeguarding. 

Residential and Visitor Amenity:

59



29. Due to the minor nature of the works requiring consent and the 
significant distance from the nearest residential unit, it is considered 
there is no impact on the amenity of residents in the locality.

30. As discussed above, the proposed works will provide an enhanced 
visitor experience.  Due to the change to the food offering at this venue, 
a vent is required.  No comments have been received from the Council’s 
Environmental Health Specialist, however it is anticipated that the 
detailed design of this will need to be approved to ensure an odour 
emissions are controlled.  This can be dealt with through the imposition 
of an appropriately worded condition. 

Minerals and Waste:

31. Due to the very small area of land affected by the proposal, which is 
already impacted by existing development, it is considered unlikely that 
any objection will be received from HCC’s Minerals and Waste team.

Other material considerations

32. Of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 
2029, July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of 
being intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to 
this application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current 
plan and are not considered to affect the recommendation put forward.

Conclusion

33. The proposed works are very minor in nature and will have minimal 
impact on the countryside function of the park and the ecology of the 
area.  The works will, as part of the wider improvements, benefit visitors.  
The proposals are considered to accord with local and national policy 
and therefore are recommended for permission, subject to relevant 
conditions.

60



61



This page is intentionally left blank



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 12 March 2018.

Application Number: F/17/81809
Case Officer: Graeme Felstead
Received Date: Wednesday 01 November 2017
Site Address: Land between St Johns Road and Dodwell Lane, Southampton, 

SO31 1DH
Applicant: Steve Carrington
Proposal: Construction of link road between St Johns Road and Dodwell 

Lane (Phase 3 of planning permission O/13/73700).

Recommendation: GRANT PERMISSION

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the date 
of this decision.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Plans and approved docs: (amended plans required)

2. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 
following plans numbered: 16.088.36, 17053-2400 Rev P3, 2450 Rev P1, DD130L05, 
ITB13373-GA-001 Rev B, ITB3373-GA-002 Rev B, ITB13373-GA-003 Rev B

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays
and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

4. No development shall start until a scheme of work detailing the extent and type of 
piling proposed has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall accord with the approved details. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

5. Details of the construction proposed for the roads and footways within the
development including all relevant horizontal cross sections and longitudinal sections
showing the existing and proposed levels together with details of street lighting and
the method of disposing of surface water and details of the programme of
implementation for the making up of the roads and footways must be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before development 
commences. The development must accord with these approved details.  

Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed to a standard which will enable 
them to be taken over as publicly maintainable highways.

6. The roads and footways must be laid out and made up in accordance with the
specification, programme and details approved and in any event shall be so

63

Agenda Item 12



constructed that, by no later than the time any building erected within that phase on
the land is occupied, there shall be a direct connection from it to an existing highway.
The final carriageway and footway surfacing must be commenced within three 
months and completed within six months from the date upon which the erection is 
commenced of the penultimate dwelling hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed to a standard which will enable 
them to be taken over as publicly maintainable highways

7. No construction or demolition work shall start until a Construction Management
Plan that has due regards to the details contained in the Best Practise Guidance -
The Control of Dust and Emissions from Construction and Demolition, 2006 (London
Authorities), has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority. Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with
the approved Construction Management Plan which shall include:

a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work, including 
roads,landscaping and open space;
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and plant
storage areas used during demolition and construction;
c) the arrangements for the routing/ turning of lorries and details for construction
traffic access to the site;
d) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
e) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the development
during construction period;
f) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and
construction;
g) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
h) temporary lighting;
i) protection of trees and ecology (to include Habitats Regulation Assessment
requirements)
j) noise generating plant,
k) use of cranes in relation to Southampton Airport. The construction must then be in
accordance with the agreed plan for the duration of the construction period.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, no construction or 
demolition work shall take place except between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 
Mondays to Fridays or 09:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or 
Bank Holidays.

8. Prior to the start of work, a Construction Method Statement to protect the Upper 
Hamble Estuary and Woods SSSI, the retained woodland, the local assemblage of 
breeding birds, bats, reptiles and any other important ecological features must be 
approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council. The CMS should include the 
method statement specified in any European Protected Species licenses relating to 
the development. 
Reason: To conform with policy policies 22 NC, 25NC and 26NC.

9. Prior to first occupation, Eastleigh Borough Council shall receive written confirmation 
from an appropriately qualified ecologist that the development has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved CMS. Reason: 
To conform with policy policies 22 NC, 25NC and 26NC.

64



10. No excavation, demolition or development related works shall commence until a site 
meeting has taken place with the site manager, the retained arboricultural consultant 
and a representative from the Local Planning Authority. All other arboricultural 
aspects, including supervision, will be addressed at this meeting. 

Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the 
amenity of the locality.

11. The development must accord with arboricultural report “J947/10”, dated October 
2017. Tree protection must be addressed as per the tree protection plan enclosed 
within the report. No excavation, demolition or development related works shall 
commence until evidence has been submitted and approved by the LPA that the tree 
protection measures have been installed, as detailed in the tree protection plan. Once 
approved, no access by vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or 
other materials shall take place within the fenced area. Tree protection measures 
shall be retained in their approved form for the duration of the work. This condition 
may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, subject 
to agreed supervision statements. 

Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the 
amenity of the locality

12. Prior to the commencement of development, Information shall be submitted to and 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority demonstrating:

1. That the correct level of water treatment exists in the system in accordance with the 
Ciria SUDS Manual C753 and;

2. Evidence that a suitable number of infiltration tests have been completed to 
determine if infiltration is achievable. These need to be across the whole site; within 
different geologies and to a similar depth to the proposed infiltration devices. Tests 
must be completed according to the BRE 365 method or another recognised method 
including British Standard BS 5930: 2015 and;

3. Maintenance regimes of entire surface water drainage system including individual 
SuDS features, including a plan illustrating the organisation responsible for each 
element. Evidence that those responsible/adopting bodies are in discussion with the 
developer. For larger/phased sites, we need to see evidence of measures taken to 
protect and ensure continued operation of drainage features during construction. 

Reason: To prevent onsite and offsite flood risk from increasing from the proposed 
drainage system.

13. No development shall start until an amended landscaping scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall cover all hard & soft landscaping [including trees and boundary treatment] and 
shall provide details of timings for all landscaping and any future maintenance. The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and to the 
appropriate British Standard.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard the 
amenities of neighbouring residents.

Informatives:

65



1. All mitigation strategies must be informed by surveys which meet industry good 
practice standards.

2. The burning of waste materials obtained by site clearance or from any other source 
must not take place without the prior written consent of the local planning authority.

3. The exact position of the public water main must be determined on site by the 
applicant. All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and cathodic 
protection, should be protected during the course of construction works. No 
excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 4 metres of the 
public water main without consent from Southern Water.

The impact of the proposed works on the public apparatus shall be approved and 
agreed by Southern Water under the New Roads and Street Works Act enquiry.

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is on partly owned council 
land.

2. The recommendation for approval is subject to amendments to be agreed between 
the applicant and Hampshire County Council. Amendments have been made to the 
proposed alignment of the link road to tie in with the roundabout on Dodwell Lane. 
Drawings are to be produced detailing this and formally submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for consideration.  

Description of Planning Application and proposal:

3. The application is for the construction of a new single carriageway link road between 
St Johns Road and Dodwell Lane immediately east of the M27 (Phase 3 of 
development associated with planning permission O/13/73700).

4. At its northern extent the new link road would connect to the recently approved 
residential developments situated to the south of St Johns Road for 109 dwellings 
(planning ref: F/15/76804) and 106 dwellings (planning ref F:1780651) known as St. 
Johns Place phase 1 and Phase 2. To the south the link road would form a new (fifth) 
arm to Dodwell Lane (north) / Sundays Hill Bypass / Pylands Lane/ Dodwell Lane 
(south) Roundabout 

5. The new link road takes the form of a 450m long 6.75m single carriageway with a 3m 
wide shared footway / cycleway along the eastern side of the carriageway, 
connecting to the existing spine roads for St John`s Place Phases 1 and 2 to the 
north of the site. 

Background and context:

6. Eastleigh Borough Council aspire to provide a new link road on the route proposed. 
There are a number of recently approved and proposed residential developments in 
the area south of Hedge End, as such the new link road is intended to ease the 
movement of traffic, including buses, from the new development areas at Boorley 
Green and south of Hedge End to Junction 8 of the M27 and beyond. The link road is 

66



identified in a number of policies in the emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan and 
as such the delivery of the link road is consistent with the direction of policy travel. 

7. The emerging Eastleigh Local Plan 2011-2029 was found unsound at inspection, and 
therefore carries little weight. However, it did identify draft policy HE8 which sought 
delivery of the link road. The provision of the new link road is also identified in 
Policies S11, HE2 and HE3 of the draft emerging Eastleigh Local Plan 2011-2036 
(July 2017)

8. Eastleigh Borough Council`s draft Emerging Local Plan (2011-2036) outlines the 
Borough Council`s emerging spatial vision for the Borough. Emerging Strategic Policy 
S11 `Transport Infrastructure` seeks that:

9. “In conjunction with the new development and having regard to the associated 
transport assessments the Borough Council will, in consultation with the highway 
authority and the Highways Agency, safeguard routes / sites, and work with partners 
to deliver, the following new and improved transport infrastructure:

iv. a new road to the south of Hedge End linking the western end of the Sunday`s Hill 
bypass with St John`s Road(See HE5, Chapter 6 section 6.5)”

Policy HE2 `Land at Sundays Hill and Land north of Pewitt Hill Close` states that:

Planning permission will be granted provided that the detailed proposals comply with 
the development plan, and comply with an approved masterplan for the whole site 
which addresses the following specific requirements:- 

The provision of part of the new link road (Policy HE5) between St Johns Road Phase 
1 residential development and Dodwell Lane that passes through the site, which will 
provide the main access to the site. 

Policy HE3, `Land off Peewit Hill Close and Dodwell Lane` states that:

Approximately 3.6 hectares of land off Peewit Close and Dodwell Lane, as defined on 
the policies map, is allocated for employment uses in use classes B1b, B1c and B8 
subject to the following requirements:

i. The development provides the remainder of the new road link between the 
southern boundary of the residential allocation to the north (Policy HE2 and 
Dodwell Lane;

ii. access to the site is from the new road link. 

10. There is strong emerging policy support for the delivery of the link road. It is identified 
as a proposed improvement scheme in the `Transport Assessment of the Revised 
Pre – submission Local Plan` prepared by Systra, commissioned by Eastleigh 
Borough Council which underpins the emerging local plan. 

11. The Transport Assessment states that the St Johns Link Road is: 

“a proposed new link road link between St John`s Road at Hedge End, and joining 
Dodwell Lane at the new junction with the proposed Sunday`s Hill bypass. The link 
would provide an access to new development and an alternative route to Foord Road 

67



for through traffic. It would also enable further development for commercial uses. If 
Botley Road to the south is re-opened it would also enable a direct route into 
Southampton for traffic from the eastern parts of Hedge End and from Boorley Green, 
avoiding M27 junction 8 and the Windhover roundabout. 

12. The link road therefore forms part of the transport strategy to support housing and 
employment growth within Hedge End as well as relieving existing congestion issues 
in the vicinity of junction 8 of the M27. 

13. The development proposal consists of a 6.75m wide two storey single carriageway 
link road with a 3m wide shared surface footway / cycleway on the eastern / northern 
side of the carriageway and a 2m wide service margin / verge on the western / 
southern side. The link road has a design speed of 30mph and will be street lit. A 
carriageway width of 6.75m will also allow the link road to serve as a bus route in the 
future if desired. The link road is designed to ease traffic movement, increase 
accessibility for car drivers and improve local permeability. 

Site Area

3.54ha

Topography

14. The site is gently undulating and formed of scrub, trees and pasture land. The land 
falls away from the M27 embankment. 

Trees and Boundary Treatment

15. The proposed link road has been positioned within the woodland to aid the retention 
of the mature trees adjacent to the field to the east and woodland to the west. The 
main benefit of the woodland is the screening that it provides. The woodland is to be 
retained either side of the access road including the mature trees adjacent to the 
field. This ensures that the screening value of the woodland and the mature trees is 
maintained. 

Site Characteristics

16. The site is locally undulating and is characteristic of a dip slope formation with scrub, 
trees and pasture land surrounding within the site. The land falls from the M27 
embankment and then rises eastwards with a sharp incline nearing the eastern 
boundary where it begins to plateau on the boundary edge. Vegetation on site 
dominates the fields and limits views into and out of the site. The roofs of existing 
properties to the north and east can be glimpsed from within the site. Views of the 
surrounding landscape are limited. 

Character of Locality

17. As well as the vegetated boundaries mature landscape features within the immediate 
and wider context reduce the visibility of the site. The local context has linear 
plantations along the M27 corridor and well wooded landform. The site is adjacent a 
busy road network including the M27, Dodwell Lane and St Johns Road.  

68



Relevant Planning History

18. O/13/73700 – Outline: Construction of up to 94 dwelling units with new link road, new 
vehicular access to St Johns Road, pedestrian and cycle links through Greenfield 
Close, drainage, landscaping and public open space (access only to be considered) 
Permit 31/07/2014

19. R/14/75594 - Reserved Matters: appearance, landscaping, layout and scale pursuant 
to outline planning permission O/13/73700 for the erection of 94 no. dwelling units 
with access off St Johns Road Permit 18/03/2015.

20. F/15/76804 - Construction of 109 dwellings with new link road, new vehicular access 
off St Johns Road, pedestrian & cycle links through Greenfield close, drainage, 
landscaping, parking and public open space (consolidation of planning approvals 
O/13/73700 & R/14/75594 with the following amendments: Internal reconfiguration of 
apartment blocks H, I & F to create additional units, the re-design of apartment block 
E to create additional units, amendments to the parking areas for the apartment 
blocks, the repositioning of the parking for Plot 20 to create an access to the rear of 
Carpenters Close and engineering works to alter levels) – Permit 16/05/2016 

21. F/17/80651 - Residential development of 106 dwellings, associated landscaping, 
amenity areas and a means of access from St John's Road (Phase II). Permit 
20.10.17

Bursledon Parish Council:

 The road is an unnecessary access for the development at St Johns Road.
 Inclusion of the proposed road will increase traffic through the St Johns 

development and at the access to St Johns Road.
 Inclusion of the proposed road will increase traffic on junction 8 of the M27, 

Dodwell Lane and Bursledon Road.
 Concern about the unjustifiable loss of trees both in the short and long term.

Representations Received

Three letters of concern

 Clear, stated action plan to tackle heavy congestion along Dodwell Lane 
especially during peak hours, leading to severe delays as a result of new 
developments with this application adding to it 

 Clear, stated action plan for dealing with the heavy air pollution along the row of 
houses on Dodwell Lane leading to the newly created roundabout, with a 
mechanism set up to measure and report air quality. This to be benchmarked 
against legal and recommended thresholds and published publicly - again during 
and after completion. 

 Proposal to ensure any heavy trucks or lorries taking equipment or supplies to the 
development do not add to the already congested, and heavily worn down road 
that is Dodwell Lane. 

 We ask that the development is led from the St John's Road side, and the 
roundabout created as part of the altitude development is only opened to any 

69



construction traffic after completion of the road and housing. - ie. start 
construction from the St John's Rd side and do not open the exit to any traffic 
(construction or otherwise) until construction is complete. This is so that the 
construction traffic does not add to the congestion or wear and tear of the Dodwell 
Lane to M27 road portion. 

 For the development and road construction to comply with the "considerate 
constructors scheme", and make a statement regarding how they will ensure dust 
and debris in the air will be minimised.

 The roundabout that the road will join to in Dodwell Lane has only just been 
constructed and no one knows if the road layout will cope with the existing traffic 
let alone the new traffic from the Hedge End ByPass and the new houses being 
built on the Pylands Lane site. 

 This new rat run for the residents of housing off St., Johns Road will feed traffic 
from the St., Johns area down to this new untried road layout. 

 This proposal risks overloading what will become a huge bottleneck, backing 
traffic up over Sunday's Hill one way and onto the Motorway exit roundabout on 
the other side. This roundabout is already incapable of coping with peak traffic 
flows.

 
Consultation Responses

Environmental Health Specialist

 The REC reports AC104725-1R1 (dated 15/1/18) and AQ100852-3R2 
assessing the impact of the development upon transport noise and air quality.  
Both reports consider the significance of the changes in conditions that are 
expected to result from the development.  The air quality report also carries out a 
qualitative assessment of the potential impact of the development phase.

 In respect of the assessment of operational impacts, both reports look at the 
predicted marginal increase in noise levels and air pollution concentrations at 
existing receptors (residential units).  The significance of these changes is then 
assessed both at individual premises and overall.  In the case of air pollution 
concentrations, the significance of the marginal changes are assessed relative to 
the closeness of the results to national air quality objectives.   

22. Environmental Health have no objection subject to conditions.

Natural England

23. Natural England has no comments to make on this application. Standing advice has 
been considered.

24. Standing advice is a ‘material’ planning consideration. It replaces the need for each 
agency to give an individual response to planning consultations. It has the same 
authority as an individual response

70



Direct Services Manager:

25. No objection

Landscape Specialist 

26. The landscape specialist has no objection to the scheme subject to substitute tree 
planting and sufficient hedgerow planting to create a green corridor.  

Tree officer 

27. Following a review of the site in conjunction with the above arboricultural report, there 
is a reasonable and foreseeable likelihood that there may be sporadic windthrow 
within the retained woodland once the necessary tree removal has occurred. This is 
because the proposed removals may be offering mutualistic support to the proposed 
retained trees. In light of this, it is agreed that supervision in this area is vital. The tree 
officer therefore has no objection subject to conditions

Eastleigh Ramblers:

 The application gives the opportunity to make the existing road into a cycle and 
pedestrian route and a relatively traffic free shortcut to going via what will be a 
very busy roundabout at the southern end of the proposed road. 

 A 3 metre-wide tarmac link should be formed from the proposed to the existing 
road. 

Ecological Specialist:

28. Prior to the application being determined further information is sought. This includes a 
desk top study of features and protected species, potential for bats to be roosting in 
trees to be removed, details of compensatory habitat for the priority habitat “wet 
woodland” and details of mitigation of impact on Upper Hamble Estuary and Woods 
SSSI . If approved, conditions are required on Construction Method Statement to 
protect the Upper Hamble Estuary and Woods SSSI, the retained woodland, the local 
assemblage of breeding birds, bats, reptiles and any other important ecological 
features.   The following further information is required: 

 A preliminary assessment of the site is required (including a desktop study) in 
order to determine what, if any, other important ecological features including 
protected/notable species may be impacted by the construction and operation of 
the road. Additional information has been submitted by way of an extended phase 
1 habitat survey currently under consideration.

 As trees are to be removed from the site during construction of the road, ground 
level tree inspections are required to assess their potential for roosting bats, as 
well as details of appropriate further survey/mitigation measures if required. 

 As the site falls within a SSSI impact risk zone for Upper Hamble Estuary and 
Woods SSSI, for which infrastructure (including roads) is considered to cause a 
likely impact, further information on mitigation is required to prevent harm to the 
SSSI. 

71



29. From the information currently provided, should permission be granted, it is advised 
that the following conditions are imposed:

30. Prior to the start of work, a Construction Method Statement to protect the Upper 
Hamble Estuary and Woods SSSI, the retained woodland, the local assemblage of 
breeding birds, bats, reptiles and any other important ecological features must be 
approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council. The CMS should include the 
method statement specified in any European Protected Species licenses relating to 
the development.
Reason: To conform with policy policies 22 NC, 25NC and 26NC.

31. Informative: All mitigation strategies must be informed by surveys which meet 
industry good practice standards.

32. Prior to the first operation of the road, a compensation plan for the lost wet woodland 
must be approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council and a legal obligation must 
be signed, securing funding for the implementation of the plan by appropriately 
qualified operators for 20 years.
Reason: To conform with policy NC25.

Hampshire County Council Highways 

33. No objection subject to amendments to be agreed between the applicant and 
Hampshire County Council Highways. Amendments have been made to the proposed 
alignment of the link road to tie in with the roundabout on Dodwell Lane. Drawings are 
to be produced detailing this and formally submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for consideration.  

Hampshire County Council: Lead Local Flood Authority

34. No objection subject to conditions requiring the submission of - Information 
evidencing that the correct level of water treatment exists in the system in accordance 
with the Ciria SuDS Manual C753, this will be conditioned. 

Southern Water:

35. No objection in principle subject to protecting existing public apparatus on the site.  

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built-up Area Boundary
 Area of Landscape Character
 Strategic Gap
 Link road designation (emerging Local Plan) 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies:

36. This site is countryside within the current adopted Local Plan 2001-2011.  The most 
relevant saved policies are as follows:- 

72



 1.CO – Countryside protection 
 2.CO -  Strategic Gap.
 18.CO  - Landscape character
 25.NC- Promotion of biodiversity unless benefits of development outweigh the 

adverse impacts and that the impacts are unavoidable and that mitigation 
measures are proposed.

 30.ES – Requires refusal of noise sensitive development where exposed to 
unacceptable levels of noise

 31.ES – Requires appropriate design, layout and sound insulation where 
permission is granted in above circumstances. 

 33.ES – Suitable air quality assessment required if new development appears 
likely to have a significant impact on air quality. 

 45.ES – Requires sustainable drainage systems
 59.BE requires high standards of good design in new developments, including 

taking full and proper account of the context of the site.
 100.T – Requires development to be well served by sustainable forms of 

transport, to provide measures to minimize impact on the network, minimize travel 
demand, provide a choice of transport mode and submit a transport assessment 
for large proposals.

 102.T – Requires new development to provide safe accesses that do not have 
adverse environmental implications and are to adoptable standard.

 168.LB – Listed Buildings.
 190. IN – requires development only to be permitted where adequate services 

and infrastructure are available or can be provided

37. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies:
The most relevant draft policies of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-
2029 are: 

 S1 – Sustainable development
 S2 – New development
 S3 – Location of new housing
 S5 – Green infrastructure 
 S8 –  Strategic footpath, cycleway, bridleway links 
 S9 – Countryside and countryside gaps    
 S11 – Nature conservation 
 DM1 – General criteria for new development 
 DM2 – Environmentally sustainable development.
 DM4 – Flood risk
 DM5 – Sustainable surface water management and watercourse management
 DM7 – Pollution 
 DM9 – Nature conservation
 DM23 – General development criteria - transport
 DM37 – Funding infrastructure 
 HE2 - Land at Sundays Hill and Land north of Pewitt Hill Close residential and 

link road development
 HE3 - Land at Pewitt Hill Close and Dodwell Lane employment and link road 

development

38. Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)

73



 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable Development 
(March 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

39. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how it 
expects them to be applied. It is a material consideration in planning decisions.

40. As stated at paragraph 6 of the NPPF, the purpose of the planning system is “to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development”. There are three 
dimensions to this: economic, social and environmental, and these dimensions give 
rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of different roles. 

41. Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that decisions need to take local circumstances into 
account so that they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable 
development in different areas.

42. Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development which, for decision-taking, means  approving 
development proposals that accord with the Development Plan without delay; and, 
where the Development Plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 
taken as a whole or when specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should 
be restricted.

43. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out the “Core Planning Principles” that the planning 
system ought to play, underpinning both Plan-making and decision-taking. 

44. Paragraph 61 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions address the integration of 
new development into the natural, built and historic environment. 

45. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF makes it clear that the planning system should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils.  In addition it should 
seek to prevent existing and new development from contributing to or being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of, inter 
alia, air and noise pollution.

46. Paragraph 152 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should seek 
opportunities to achieve each of the economic, social and environmental dimensions 
of sustainable development, and net gains across all three. Significant adverse 
impacts on any of these dimensions should be avoided and, wherever possible, 
alternative options which reduce or eliminate such impacts should be pursued. Where 
adverse impacts are unavoidable, measures to mitigate/compensate the impact 
should be considered. 

47. Paragraph 156 of the NPPF goes on to state that Local Planning Authorities should 
set out the strategic priorities for the area in the Local Plan, including strategic 
policies to conserve and enhance the natural environment, including landscape.

48. Paragraphs 186 to 207 of the NPPF make detailed provision in relation to decision-
taking. Paragraph 196 re-emphasises that the NPPF is a material consideration in 

74



planning decisions and paragraph 197 states that “in assessing and determining 
development proposals, local planning authorities should apply the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development”.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

49. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration of 
planning applications. 

50. Air Quality – when determining whether air quality is relevant to planning application 
considerations could include any increases in traffic, introduction of new sources of 
air pollution, exposure to air pollutants and impact on biodiversity.

51. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – the conservation of heritage 
assets in a manner appropriate to their significance is a core planning principle.  An 
assessment of the impact on the significance of the heritage assets and their settings 
is required.

52. Design – good quality design is an integral part of sustainable development. 
Achieving good design is about creating places, buildings or spaces that work well for 
everyone, look good, will last well and adapt for the needs of future generations. 
Good design responds in a practical and creative way to both the function and identity 
of a place. It puts land, water, drainage, energy, community, economic, infrastructure 
and other such resources to the best possible use over the long as well as the short 
term.

53. Determining a planning application – to the extent that development plan policies are 
material, a decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless 
there are material considerations that indicate otherwise. Where the plan is absent, 
silent or out of date, an application must be determined in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

54. Flood Risk – a site specific flood risk assessment should be carried out to assess the 
flood risk to and from the development site and demonstrate how flood risk will be 
managed now and over the development’s life.

55. Contamination – Local Planning Authorities need to be satisfied that they understand 
the contaminated condition of the site and that the development proposed is 
appropriate as a means of remediation and it has sufficient information to be 
confident that it will be able to grant permission in full at a later stage bearing in mind 
the need for the necessary remediation to be viable and practicable.

56. Natural Environment – Local Planning Authorities should take into consideration 
various publications when taking biodiversity into account and should look for net 
gains. Sufficient information should be sought through ecological surveys etc.

57. Noise – noise needs to be considered when new development may create additional 
noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic 
environment.  For noise sensitive developments mitigation measures may be 
acceptable but should not result in an unsatisfactory development. 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background

75



58. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning authority 
determining an application to do so in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
materials considerations indicate otherwise

59. The Development Plan in this case comprises the saved policies of the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
(adopted 2013).  

60. In terms of emerging policy, the Submitted Eastleigh Local Plan 2011-2019 
(comprising: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 
published February 2014; and the Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes) was 
submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014 and, following examination hearings 
in November 2014, the Inspector issued his final report on 11 February 2015. The 
final report recommended non-adoption on the basis of the plan being unsound, 
largely due to its inadequate provision for new housing. It can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this application. 
The emerging work on the new Local Plan to 2036 is also a material consideration of 
limited weight.

61. In terms of other material planning considerations, the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of 
significant weight.

Principle of Development

62. The site lies outside of the defined urban edge and is designated as countryside and 
strategic gap in the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and 
is not allocated as a housing site or a reserve site in the adopted plan. However, the 
site is allocated for residential development including a link road in the Revised Draft 
Local Plan (2016 – 2036) in Policy HE2 and for employment with link road in Policy 
H3 of this Plan.

63. Where an existing Local Plan policy cannot be considered up to date the NPPF 
advises that a presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged. This 
presumption means that planning permission should be granted for sustainable 
development unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of doing so, when assessed against the NPPF as 
a whole. 

64. This site was identified for the link road in the emerging Local Plan and therefore 
included within the Housing Implementation Strategy. Planning permission has been 
granted for 215 units associated with the link road (see planning history).

65. As set out in para 14 of the NPPF, it is necessary to consider whether any adverse 
impacts of the proposed development would be so severe as to tip the balance 
against granting planning permission. It is also important to note that the issue of 
prematurity, ie: the site coming forward for development ahead of the new local plan 
being adopted, has carried very little, if any weight in recent appeal decisions 
considering similar issues.

66. The main planning issues that need to be considered in relation to this application are 
as follows:

76



 Whether the development is sustainable development
 Impact on the countryside, heritage and strategic gap setting
 Potential traffic impact and highway safety issues
 Infrastructure impacts
 Potential ecology, noise, pollution, drainage and flood risk issues

Environmental Sustainability

67. As stated above, this application is now seeking approval of phase 3  of the St Johns 
Road development for spine road link and means of access.

68. The application site measures approximately 3.54ha in size and is currently open 
field/pasture land and is characterised by changing ground levels, large trees.

69. The site layout plan shows a main spine road through the site, with vehicular access 
via Dodwell Lane, linking to phase 2 – this spine is the new link road serving 
development further to the south.

70. The layout shows opportunities for the creation of a high quality development, which 
will include planting along the spine road, creating a tree / hedge lined avenue 
through the site. 

The landscape and countryside issues

71. Saved policy 1.CO of the adopted Local Plan seeks to protect the countryside from 
inappropriate development unless it necessary for agriculture, outdoor recreational 
use, public utility developments or extensions to existing education or health facilities. 
 The proposals for housing on a site designated as countryside clearly do not fall 
within the scope of these “accepted” forms of development. Policy 18.CO seeks to 
protect the identified landscape character of an area, more details of which are set 
out in the Council’s Landscape Character Assessment Area document.

72. The site is located within a designated strategic gap to protect the coalescence of 
settlements. Its semi-rural nature does contribute to the perception of being outside of 
Hedge End and the NPPF recognises the placing of value on the local circumstances 
(para 10), the need to take account of the different roles and character the 
countryside takes (para 17) and for LPAs to adopt strategic priorities including the 
protection of landscapes (para 156). The principle of saved policy 1.CO is wholly 
consistent with the sustainable development objectives of the NPPF (para 215). 

73. The site is gently rolling with few landscape features of note. At national level the site 
is within Natural England’s National Character Area (NCA) 128 South Hampshire 
Lowlands, some key characteristics relevant to the site are listed below:

 Low lying, undulating plain abutting the chalk downs to the north and coastal plain 
and Southampton Water to the south.

 Well-wooded farmed landscape (particularly to the east of Southampton), 
characterised by ancient woodland such as Botley Wood and West Walk. 

 Mixed agricultural landscape dominated by pasture with small pockets of 
horticulture and arable

77



 An intimate and enclosed field pattern with many small and irregular fields 
generally bounded by mixed – species hedgerows or woodland;

 The more rural hinterland is characterised by small, loosely clustered or dispersed 
settlements, intermixed with isolated farmsteads; and 

 Fragmented by major transport links, including the M27 to Portsmouth which 
cross the NCA 

74. The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) note the linear planting 
obscuring the road to the west the text adding that the well wooded landform reduces 
the visual intrusion.

The LCA is also described as below

75. The path of the motorway fractures the field pattern, fragmenting the land use and 
physically dividing the east and west sides of the character area. Despite the 
motorway, areas enclosed by woodland or within the small steep-sided valleys have a 
very rural character. Nevertheless, views of roads, urban edges and pylons tend to 
predominate. The motorway generates significant noise intrusion. The landscape 
value of Area 11: M27 corridor LCA is considered to be low.   

76. The landscape features of the site and its immediate context is consistent with the 
published Landscape Character Assessments noted as being `well wooded`. The 
vegetated boundaries and the landform of the site adds to the sense of enclosure and 
mature landscape features within the immediate and wider context reduce visibility of 
the site. 

77. Manmade features within the immediate area of the application site include the busy 
road network, including the M27, Dodwell Lane and St Johns Road in addition to the 
overhead pylons and a mast in the adjacent field to the east of the site. 

78. The gap separates the built form of Hedge End and Bursledon. However it is not 
considered to represent a landscape of any great importance or character. This in 
association with the land released for housing the proposed development is not at 
odds with development already permitted in the area. 

79. Proposals include replacement tree planting and it will be conditioned to seek a 
revised landscaping plan to include hedging along the link road and this will 
adequately mitigate against loss of existing trees.   

Heritage Asset and Listed Building considerations

80. There is one Grade II Listed Building (Dodwell Cottage) located south east of the site, 
there are no known archaeological sites within the development area.

81. Dodwell Cottage is described on the British Listed Building website as “Originating in 
1716, two storeys and attic. Red tile roof. Brick walling in Flemish bond (red 
stretchers, blue headers) first floor band, camber red arches to ground floor openings, 
plinth. Sashes in exposed frames”. 

78



82. Consideration has been given to the location of Dodwell Cottage and its setting and it 
is not considered that the proposal will have a negative impact on the property given 
separation distances from the site ensuring compliance with the guidance contained 
within the paragraph 128 of the NPPF and saved policy 168.LB

Access proposals, traffic impact and sustainable modes of transport 

83. Local objection to the proposals relates to traffic generation from the development 
and the inability of the existing road network to accommodate this traffic without 
resulting in further congestion and queuing. 

84. The site is considered to be in a sustainable location in terms of the proximity to local 
facilities and transport infrastructure and the road itself is not a traffic generator but 
facilitates the movement of traffic on the network. The scheme would also offer 
improvements to pedestrian and cycle access around the local network and is 
designed to accommodate buses. 

85. Operational assessments have been undertaken and demonstrate that the junctions 
either end of the link road would operate within capacity and that the additional traffic 
associated with the link road will not have a significant adverse impact on the local 
highway network. 

86. The proposed link road is intended to help ease congestion on the local highway 
network. Traffic using junction 8 of the M27 and Windhover Roundabout currently 
experience substantial queueing and delays during the peak hours. The proposal will 
provide an alternative route between junction 8 and the Dodwell Lane / Sundays Hill 
Bypass / Pylands Lane roundabout and the A27 Kanes Hill, which avoids these 
junctions. 

87. The A27 / St Johns Road will experience and increase in traffic as a result of the 
proposal. Operational assessments of the junction have been undertaken, which 
demonstrate that the junction will operate over capacity in the future year scenario 
without the addition of the link road traffic. As such a mitigation scheme will be 
required at this junction to accommodate the future year traffic and proposed link 
road. A contribution towards the improvement of this junction, involving provision of 
two lanes on St Johns Road, was secured through a Section 106 agreement for the 
St Johns Place Phase 2 residential development.  

88. The Highway Authority and the Council have been satisfied that the movements 
generated by the development could be accommodated adequately on the wider 
transport network without a severe impact on road safety and operation of the local 
transport network, subject to the Highway Authority’s comments. The scheme as 
submitted is not contrary to saved policies 100.T and 101.T of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan (2001-2011), emerging policy DM23 of the Revised Pre-
Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2011-2014) and the NPPF (para 32). 

Noise issues 

89. The adopted local plan seeks to avoid unacceptable impact from noise or vibration on 
noise-sensitive developments including residential development. In situations where 
the merits of the development outweigh the desirability of locating it away from a 
location disturbed by noise or vibration, the applicant must demonstrate the design 
and layout can meet appropriate standards. Para 123 of the NPPF advises planning 

79



decisions should “avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health 
and quality of life as a result of new development”. 

90. The noise survey has assessed noise generated from traffic, concluding that 
development can be delivered without causing harm to the amenity of future 
occupiers and in terms of changes in noise level are negligible at all reported 
receptors. Environmental Health specialists have assessed the impact on the 
bungalow immediately adjacent to the roundabout and link road and consider that 
noise levels are within acceptable limits. 

91. The impact of noise and vibration during the construction period for the dwellings is 
not considered to be unacceptable in principle; the final details can be addressed via 
a construction impact management plan. 

Air Quality

92. The NPPF states (para 124) that policies should sustain compliance with and 
contribute towards national objectives for pollutants, taking into account Air Quality 
Management Areas and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual sites. 
Local plan saved policies 32.ES and 33.ES and emerging local plan policy DM7 
require any impacts upon air quality to be assessed in this regard. There are also a 
number of European Directives that apply to air quality which the Air Quality 
Standards Regulations (2010) seeks to transpose and simplify. 

93. The application is supported by an air quality assessment that advises the proposed 
highway improvements would not have a harmful impact on air quality, with the 
receptors demonstrating an adequate level of air quality following the works 
proposed.  In terms of changes in PM10 air pollution (fine particulate emission) these 
are negligible at all receptors. In terms of changes in nitrogen dioxide air pollution in 
the opening year, 2020, a moderate adverse impact is shown at one receptor and a 
slight adverse impact at a second receptor; all other receptors (21) experience a 
negligible impact.  By 2036 the change is assessed as negligible at all receptors.  The 
opening year significant changes are located at two receptors located on Dodwell 
Lane (R1 and R20).  These sites are not predicted to have exceedances of national 
air quality objectives.  

94. The assessment concludes that the impact overall of the development is 
insignificant.  This is not inconsistent with the IAQM methodology on assessing air 
quality impacts through the land use planning system.

95. In light of these responses, the principle of the proposed development on this site is 
acceptable subject to the detailed conditions referred to above, and is considered to 
be in accordance with Saved Policies 30.ES, 31.ES and 33.ES of the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) 

Trees and Ecology 

96. Following review of the site in conjunction with the arboricultural report, there is a 
reasonable and foreseeable likelihood that there may be sporadic wind throw within 
the retained non TPO`d woodland once the necessary tree removal has occurred. 
This is because the proposed removals may offer mutualistic support to the proposed 
retained trees. No objection is raised by the tree officer subject to conditions to 

80



address this, on balance the development is in accordance with Policy 59.BE of the 
EBLP Review.  

Ecology

97. Further information is required and can be secured by condition to determine if any, 
other important ecological features including protected/notable species may be 
impacted by the construction and operation of the road. 

98. In addition trees are to be removed from the site during construction of the road and 
before planning permission is granted ground level tree inspections are required to 
assess their potential for roosting bats, as well as details of appropriate further 
survey/mitigation measures if required in relation to Wet Woodland and SSSI impact 
and mitigation. 

99. In accordance with the requirements of saved policy 25.NC and the NPPF (para 118) 
the biodiversity value of the application site can be improved via a Landscape & 
Biodiversity Management Strategy whilst during the construction process an 
Environmental Construction Management Plan would minimise impact of works on 
the site. With planning conditions recommended securing the proposed ecological 
mitigation measures, in respect to biodiversity enhancements the development is 
considered to accord with policies 25.NC and 26.NC of the adopted Local Plan and 
DM9 of the emerging Local Plan.  

100. As additional ecological nformation is required prior to the issue of a decision to 
permit, it is recommended that this matter be delegated to the Housing and 
Development Lead Specialist to conclude in consultation with Chair and Vice Chair. 

Drainage and flood risk

101. The application site lies within Flood Zone 1 which is considered to have a low risk of 
flooding and the submitted Flood Risk Assessment demonstrates that the 
development would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, subject to the 
implementation and management of a comprehensive Sustainable Urban Drainage 
System.  A strategy is provided within the FRA and full details of drainage are also 
provided. Southern Water raises no objection, HCC as Lead Local Water Flood 
Authority also have no objection subject to conditions. The development accords with 
saved policy 45.ES and emerging policy DM5. 

Planning obligation /considerations

102. The development does not generate an impact on infrastructure or facilities that 
require mitigation through a planning obligation and contributions towards 
infrastructure provisions have already been secured against earlier phases.  

Other material considerations

103. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 
2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being intended as the 
current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this application, the new policies 
essentially echo those of the current plan and are not considered to affect the 
recommendation put forward.

81



Conclusion 

104. The starting point when determining this application is the development plan and the 
spine road development is not proposed within the adopted  Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan (2001-2011) and is contrary to this plan’s policies for the countryside and 
strategic gap. However, it is proposed in both versions of the replacement Local Plan 
and is clearly intended to be provided as part of the strategic transport network for the 
Borough necessary to support new development over following plan period. The 
proposed development would thus give rise to significant benefits, particularly in 
terms of transport infrastructure improvements, addressing a long term aspiration of 
the Borough Council. 

105. In the planning balance, and having regard to all the material considerations, the 
recommendation is that the impacts of the development can be mitigated whilst there 
are a number of benefits that this scheme would deliver. 

106. As additional ecological and highways information and is required prior to the issue of 
a decision to permit, it is recommended that these matters be delegated to the 
Housing and Development Lead Specialist to conclude in consultation with Chair and 
Vice Chair. Subject to this and the recommended conditions, the recommendation is 
to grant planning permission.

Conditions:

Still awaiting highways conditions. 

Start:

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the date 
of this decision.Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

Plans and approved docs: (amended plans required)
The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the 
interests of proper planning.

Highways

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays
and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

No development shall start until a scheme of work detailing the extent and type of
piling proposed has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall accord with the approved details. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

Details of the construction proposed for the roads and footways within the
development including all relevant horizontal cross sections and longitudinal sections

82



showing the existing and proposed levels together with details of street lighting and
the method of disposing of surface water and details of the programme of
implementation for the making up of the roads and footways must be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before development 
commences. The development must accord with these approved details.  
Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed to a standard which will enable 
them to be taken over as publicly maintainable highways.

The roads and footways must be laid out and made up in accordance with the
specification, programme and details approved and in any event shall be so
constructed that, by no later than the time any building erected within that phase on
the land is occupied, there shall be a direct connection from it to an existing highway.
The final carriageway and footway surfacing must be commenced within three 
months and completed within six months from the date upon which the erection is 
commenced of the penultimate dwelling hereby permitted. Reason: To ensure that 
the roads are constructed to a standard which will enable them to be taken over as 
publicly maintainable highways

No construction or demolition work shall start until a Construction Management
Plan that has due regards to the details contained in the Best Practise Guidance -
The Control of Dust and Emissions from Construction and Demolition, 2006 (London
Authorities), has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority. Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with
the approved Construction Management Plan which shall include:

a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work, including 
roads,
landscaping and open space;
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and plant
storage areas used during demolition and construction;
c) the arrangements for the routing/ turning of lorries and details for construction
traffic access to the site;
d) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
e) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the development
during construction period;
f) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and
construction;
g) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
h) temporary lighting;
i) protection of trees and ecology (to include Habitats Regulation Assessment
requirements)
j) noise generating plant,
k) use of cranes in relation to Southampton Airport. The construction must then be in
accordance with the agreed plan for the duration of the construction period.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, no construction or 
demolition work shall take place except between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 
Mondays to Fridays or 09:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or 
Bank Holidays.

Ecology

83



Prior to the start of work, a Construction Method Statement to protect the Upper 
Hamble Estuary and Woods SSSI, the retained woodland, the local assemblage of 
breeding birds, bats, reptiles and any other important ecological features must be 
approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council. The CMS should include the 
method statement specified in any European Protected Species licenses relating to 
the development. 
Reason: To conform with policy policies 22 NC, 25NC and 26NC.

Prior to first occupation, Eastleigh Borough Council shall receive written confirmation 
from an appropriately qualified ecologist that the development has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved CMS. Reason: 
To conform with policy policies 22 NC, 25NC and 26NC.

Prior to the first operation of the road, a compensation plan for the lost wet woodland 
must be approved in writing by Eastleigh Borough Council and a legal obligation must 
be signed, securing funding for the implementation of the plan by appropriately 
qualified operators for 20 years. Reason: To conform with policy NC25.

Trees:

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall commence until a site 
meeting has taken place with the site manager, the retained arboricultural consultant 
and a representative from the Local Planning Authority. All other arboricultural 
aspects, including supervision, will be addressed at this meeting. 
Reason - To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the 
amenity of the locality.

The development must accord with arboricultural report “J947/10”, dated October 
2017. Tree protection must be addressed as per the tree protection plan enclosed 
within the report. No excavation, demolition or development related works shall 
commence until evidence has been submitted and approved by the LPA that the tree 
protection measures have been installed, as detailed in the tree protection plan. Once 
approved, no access by vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or 
other materials shall take place within the fenced area. Tree protection measures 
shall be retained in their approved form for the duration of the work. This condition 
may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, subject 
to agreed supervision statements. Reason - To retain and protect the existing trees 
which form an important part of the amenity of the locality.

SUDS:

Prior to the commencement of development, Information shall be submitted to and 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority demonstrating:

1. That the correct level of water treatment exists in the system in accordance with 
the Ciria SUDS Manual C753 and;

2. Evidence that a suitable number of infiltration tests have been completed to 
determine if infiltration is achievable. These need to be across the whole site; 
within different geologies and to a similar depth to the proposed infiltration 
devices. Tests must be completed according to the BRE 365 method or another 
recognised method including British Standard BS 5930: 2015 and;

3. Maintenance regimes of entire surface water drainage system including individual 
SuDS features, including a plan illustrating the organisation responsible for each 
element. Evidence that those responsible/adopting bodies are in discussion with 

84



the developer. For larger/phased sites, we need to see evidence of measures 
taken to protect and ensure continued operation of drainage features during 
construction. 

Reason: To prevent onsite and offsite flood risk from increasing from the proposed 
drainage system.

Landscaping:

No development shall start until an amended landscaping scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall cover all hard & soft landscaping [including trees and boundary treatment] and 
shall provide details of timings for all landscaping and any future maintenance. The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and to the 
appropriate British Standard. Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the 
locality and to safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Southern Water Informatives:

The exact position of the public water main must be determined on site by the 
applicant. All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and cathodic 
protection, should be protected during the course of construction works. No 
excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 4 metres of the 
public water main without consent from Southern Water.

The impact of the proposed works on the public apparatus shall be approved and 
agreed by Southern Water under the New Roads and Street Works Act enquiry.

Ecology:

Informative: All mitigation strategies must be informed by surveys which meet 
industry good practice standards.

EH informative:

The burning of waste materials obtained by site clearance or from any other source 
must not take place without the prior written consent of the local planning authority.

85



© Crown copyright and database rights (2018) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/17/81809

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:5000

01/03/2018

SU4811

Title:

Land between St Johns Road

and Dodwell Lane

86


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Grants
	App A Youth Grant Applications and Recommendations 2017-18.docxFINAL

	8 Community Investment Programme Priorities for Hedge End, West End and Botley
	Hedge End CIPFINALMarch2018
	West End CIP FINAL2018
	BotleyCIPFINAL2018

	9 Financial Management
	11 Planning Application - Highwood Barn, Itchen Valley Country Park, Allington Lane, West End, Southampton, SO30 3HQ
	12 Planning Application - Land between St Johns Road and Dodwell Lane, Hedge End

